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Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

FactSet Research Systems Inc. has made statements under the captions Part I, Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, Part 11,
Item 1A. Risk Factors, and in other sections of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2024, that are forward-looking statements. In some
cases, you can identify these statements by words such as "may," "might," "will," "should," "expects," "plans," "anticipates," "believes," "estimates, projects,
"predicts," "potential," or "continue," and similar expressions.

intends,

XD "o

indicates,"

These forward-looking statements, which are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions about us, may include projections of our future financial performance and anticipated
trends in our business. These statements are only predictions based on our current expectations, estimates, forecasts and projections about future events. These statements are not
guarantees of future performance and involve a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions. There are many important factors that could cause our actual results, level of activity,
performance or achievements to differ materially from the results, level of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements, including the
numerous factors discussed under Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023, that should be specifically considered.

Although we believe the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, level of activity, performance or achievements.
Moreover, neither we nor any other person assumes responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of any of these forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements speak
only as of the date they are made, and actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in forward-looking statements. We do not intend, and are under no duty, to update
any of these forward-looking statements after the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to reflect actual results, future events or circumstances, or revised expectations.

We intend that all forward-looking statements we make will be subject to safe harbor protection of the federal securities laws as found in Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
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PART I — FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FactSet Research Systems Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME - Unaudited

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
May 31, May 31,

(in thousands, except per share data) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Revenues 552,708 $ 529,811 $ 1,640,869 $ 1,549,711
Operating expenses

Cost of services 246,986 241,689 753,749 709,537

Selling, general and administrative 103,098 115,725 312,616 325,903

Asset impairments 165 438 1,063 1,167

Total operating expenses 350,249 357,852 1,067,428 1,036,607

Operating income 202,459 171,959 573,441 513,104
Other income (expense), net

Interest income 4,568 3,083 10,427 8,191

Interest expense (16,894) (16,354) (50,231) (49,628)

Other income (expense), net 399 3,310 736 4,978

Total other income (expense), net (11,927) (9,961) (39,068) (36,459)

Income before income taxes 190,532 161,998 534,373 476,645
Provision for income taxes 32,397 27,335 86,743 73,591
Net income 158,135 $ 134,663 $ 447,630 $ 403,054
Basic earnings per common share 415 $ 352§ 11.76 $ 10.54
Diluted earnings per common share 4.09 $ 3.46 $ 11.58 $ 10.35
Basic weighted average common shares 38,089 38,278 38,069 38,227
Diluted weighted average common shares 38,640 38,912 38,644 38,936

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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FactSet Research Systems Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - Unaudited

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
May 31, May 31,

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023

Net income $ 158,135 § 134,663 $ 447,630 $ 403,054
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax

Net unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges (335) (2,044) (3,175) 2,257
Foreign currency translation adjustment gains (losses) (1,282) 4,943 (2,330) 16,782
Other comprehensive income (loss) (1,617) 2,899 (5,505) 19,039
Comprehensive income $ 156,518 $ 137,562 $ 442,125 $ 422,093

(1) Presented net of a tax benefit of $119 thousand and $704 thousand for the three months ended May 31, 2024 and May 31, 2023, respectively. Presented net of a tax benefit of $1,126 thousand and a tax
expense of $781 thousand for the nine months ended May 31, 2024 and May 31, 2023, respectively.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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FactSet Research Systems Inc.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS - Unaudited

(in thousands, except share data) May 31, 2024 August 31, 2023
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 453,144 $ 425,444
Investments 68,890 32,210
Accounts receivable, net of reserves of $10,484 at May 31, 2024 and $7,769 at August 31, 2023 240,096 237,665
Prepaid taxes 44,416 24,206
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 51,729 50,610
Total current assets 858,275 770,135
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net 80,843 86,107
Goodwill 1,004,749 1,004,736
Intangible assets, net 1,851,395 1,859,202
Deferred taxes 36,739 27,229
Lease right-of-use assets, net 137,229 141,837
Other assets 70,471 73,676
TOTAL ASSETS $ 4,039,701 $ 3,962,922
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 138,381 § 121,816
Current debt 187,144 —
Current lease liabilities 30,130 28,839
Accrued compensation 79,383 112,892
Deferred revenues 168,053 152,430
Current taxes payable 28,825 31,009
Dividends payable 39,589 37,265
Total current liabilities 671,505 484,251
Long-term debt 1,240,626 1,612,700
Deferred taxes 7,944 6,737
Deferred revenues, non-current 1,928 3,734
Taxes payable 36,748 30,344
Long-term lease liabilities 183,642 198,382
Other liabilities 6,904 6,844
TOTAL LIABILITIES $ 2,149,297 § 2,342,992
Commitments and contingencies (see Note 11)
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, none issued $ — 393 =
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 150,000,000 shares authorized; 42,556,827 and 42,096,628 shares issued; 38,066,195 and
38,025,372 shares outstanding at May 31, 2024 and August 31, 2023, respectively 426 421
Additional paid-in capital 1,453,830 1,323,631
Treasury stock, at cost: 4,490,632 and 4,071,256 shares at May 31, 2024 and August 31, 2023, respectively (1,309,684) (1,122,077)
Retained earnings 1,838,478 1,505,096
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (92,646) (87,141)
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY $ 1,890,404 $ 1,619,930
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY $ 4,039,701 $ 3,962,922

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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FactSet Research Systems Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS - Unaudited

Nine Months Ended
May 31,
(in thousands) 2024 2023
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income 447,630 $ 403,054
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities
Depreciation and amortization 91,154 78,681
Amortization of lease right-of-use assets 22,846 29,245
Stock-based compensation expense 46,707 44,365
Deferred income taxes (6,979) (12,716)
Asset impairments 1,063 1,167
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions
Accounts receivable, net of reserves (7,176) (37,879)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 17,296 5,870
Accrued compensation (33,329) (39,935)
Deferred revenues 13,817 (3,861)
Taxes payable, net of prepaid taxes (15,992) 19,112
Lease liabilities, net (31,687) (34,041)
Other, net (8,173) 36,841
Net cash provided by operating activities 537,177 489,903
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, equipment, leasehold improvements and capitalized internal-use software (59,722) (61,421)
Purchases of investments (44,936) (10,889)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (104,658) (72,310)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayments of debt (187,500) (312,500)
Dividend payments (111,297) (101,377)
Proceeds from employee stock plans 83,497 55,885
Repurchases of common stock (171,918) (67,092)
Other financing activities (15,690) (12,273)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (402,908) (437,357)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (1,911) 3,118
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 27,700 (16,646)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 425,444 503,273
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 453,144 $ 486,627

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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FactSet Research Systems Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY- Unaudited

For the Three Months Ended May 31, 2024

Common Stock Additional Treasury Stock Accumulated Total
Paid-in Retained Other Stockholders’
(in thousands, except share data) Shares Par Value Capital Shares Amount Earnings Comprehensive Loss Equity
Balance as of February 29, 2024 42,475,726 $ 425 $ 1,421,133 4,352,639 $ (1,248,707) S 1,719,932 $ (91,029) $ 1,801,754
Net income 158,135 158,135
Other comprehensive income (loss) (1,617) (1,617)
Common stock issued for employee stock plans 74,963 1 16,952 488 (223) 16,730
Vesting of restricted stock 6,138 — — 2,355 (1,001) (1,001)
Repurchases of common stock 135,150 (59,753) (59,753)
Stock-based compensation expense 15,745 15,745
Dividends declared (39,589) (39,589)
Balance as of May 31, 2024 42,556,827 $ 426 $ 1,453,830 4,490,632 $ (1,309,684) $ 1,838,478 $ (92,646) $ 1,890,404
For the Nine Months Ended May 31, 2024
Common Stock Additional Treasury Stock Accgrtr}llzlrated Total
Paid-in Retained Comprehensive Stockholders’
(in thousands, except share data) Shares Par Value Capital Shares Amount Earnings Loss Equity
Balance as of August 31, 2023 42,096,628 $ 421 $ 1,323,631 4,071,256 $ (1,122,077) $ 1,505,096 $ (87,141) $ 1,619,930
Net income 447,630 447,630
Other comprehensive income (loss) (5,505) (5,505)
Common stock issued for employee stock plans 372,311 4 83,493 831 (376) 83,121
Vesting of restricted stock 87,888 1 (1) 34,395 (15,313) (15,313)
Repurchases of common stock 384,150 (171,918) (171,918)
Stock-based compensation expense 46,707 46,707
Dividends declared (114,248) (114,248)
Balance as of May 31, 2024 42,556,827 $ 426 $ 1,453,830 4,490,632 § (1,309,684) $ 1,838,478 § (92,646) $ 1,890,404
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FactSet Research Systems Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY- Unaudited

For the Three Months Ended May 31, 2023

Common Stock Additional

Treasury Stock

Accumulated

Other Total
Paid-in Retained Comprehensive Stockholders’
(in thousands, except share data) Shares Par Value Capital Shares Amount Earnings Loss Equity
Balance as of February 28, 2023 41,949,883 $ 420 $ 1,261,452 3,636,175 $ (942,496) S 1,380,021 $ (92,243) $ 1,607,154
Net income 134,663 134,663
Other comprehensive income (loss) 2,899 2,899
Common stock issued for employee stock plans 56,055 — 12,279 — — 12,279
Vesting of restricted stock 3,161 — 1,239 (493) (493)
Repurchases of common stock 165,950 (67,092) (67,092)
Stock-based compensation expense 16,865 16,865
Dividends declared (37,442) (37,442)
Balance as of May 31, 2023 42,009,099 $ 420 $ 1,290,596 3,803,364 $ (1,010,081) S 1,477,242 S (89,344) $ 1,668,833
For the Nine Months Ended May 31, 2023
Accumulated
Common Stock Additional Treasury Stock Other Total
Paid-in Retained Comprehensive Stockholders’
(in thousands, except share data) Shares Par Value Capital Shares Amount Earnings Loss Equity
Balance as of August 31, 2022 41,653,218 § 417 $ 1,190,350 3,608,462 § (930,715) $ 1,179,739 § (108,383) § 1,331,408
Net income 403,054 403,054
Other comprehensive income (loss) 19,039 19,039
Common stock issued for employee stock plans 283,021 2 55,881 410 (166) 55,717
Vesting of restricted stock 72,860 1 28,542 (12,108) (12,107)
Repurchases of common stock 165,950 (67,092) (67,092)
Stock-based compensation expense 44,365 44,365
Dividends declared (105,551) (105,551)
Balance as of May 31, 2023 42,009,099 $ 420 $ 1,290,596 3,803,364 $ (1,010,081) S 1,477,242 $ (89,344) $ 1,668,833

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

"o "o

FactSet Research Systems Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (collectively, "we," "our," "us," the "Company" or "FactSet") is a global financial digital platform and enterprise
solutions provider with open and flexible technologies that drive the investment community to see more, think bigger and do its best work.

Our platform delivers expansive data, sophisticated analytics and flexible technology used by global financial professionals to power their critical investment workflows. As of
May 31, 2024, we had more than 8,000 clients comprised of over 208,000 investment professionals, including institutional asset managers, bankers, wealth managers, asset owners,
partners, hedge funds, corporate users and private equity and venture capital professionals. Our revenues are primarily derived from subscriptions to our multi-asset class data and
solutions powered by our connected content, referred to as our "content refinery." Our products and services include workstations, portfolio analytics and enterprise solutions.

We drive our business based on our detailed understanding of our clients' workflows, which helps us to solve their most complex challenges. We provide financial data and market
intelligence on securities, companies, industries and people to enable our clients to research investment ideas, as well as to analyze, monitor and manage their portfolios. Our on- and
off-platform solutions span the investment life cycle of investment research, portfolio construction and analysis, trade execution, performance measurement, risk management and
reporting. We provide open and flexible technology offerings, including a configurable desktop and mobile platform, comprehensive data feeds, cloud-based digital solutions and
application programming interfaces ("APIs"). The CUSIP Global Services ("CGS") business supports security master files relied on by the investment industry for critical front, middle
and back-office functions. These platforms and solutions are supported by our dedicated client service team.

We operate our business through three reportable segments ("segments"): the Americas, EMEA and Asia Pacific. During fiscal 2024, we revised our internal organization within each
segment to offer data, products and analytical applications by firm type:

«  "Institutional Buyside" focuses on asset managers, asset owners, and hedge fund companies,

*  "Dealmakers" focuses on banking and sell-side research, corporate, and private equity and venture capital workflows,

*  "Wealth" focuses on wealth management workflows, and

*  "Partnerships and CGS": "Partnerships" delivers solutions to content providers, financial exchanges, and rating agencies. "CGS" is the exclusive issuer of Committee on

Uniform Security Identification Procedures ("CUSIP") and CUSIP International Number System ("CINS") identifiers.

As our chief operating decision maker ("CODM") continues to review our business and operating results based on our three segments, the Americas, EMEA and Asia Pacific, the
realignment of our internal organization by firm type will not impact our segments for fiscal 2024. Refer to Note 15, Segment Information, for further discussion on our segments and
CODM.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation

We conduct business globally and manage our business on a geographic basis. The accompanying unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States ("GAAP") for
interim financial information and the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all information and footnotes required by GAAP
for annual financial statements. As such, the information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q should be read in conjunction with the audited Consolidated Financial Statements and
notes thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023. The accompanying unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements include our
accounts and those of our wholly-owned subsidiaries; all intercompany activity and balances have been eliminated.

In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements include all normal recurring adjustments, transactions or events discretely impacting the
interim periods considered necessary to present fairly our results of operations, financial position, cash flows and equity.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements and related disclosures in conformity with GAAP required management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Significant estimates may include income taxes, stock-based compensation, goodwill and intangible assets, business combinations, long-lived assets,
contingencies and impairment assessments. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable, the results of which
form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of our assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from the potential nonperformance by counterparties to fulfill their financial obligations. Our financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of
credit risk consist primarily of our cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, investments in mutual funds and derivative instruments. The maximum credit exposure of our cash
and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and investments in mutual funds is their carrying values as of the balance sheet date. The maximum credit exposure related to our derivative
instruments is based upon their respective gross fair values as of the balance sheet date.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments

We are exposed to credit risk on our cash, cash equivalents and investments in mutual funds in the event of default by the governmental and financial institutions with which we
transact. We invest in a manner that aligns with our restrictive cash investment practices, preserves capital and provides liquidity, while minimizing our exposure to credit risk. We limit
our exposure to credit loss by investing with multiple governmental and financial institutions that we believe are high-quality and credit-worthy. We have not experienced any credit
losses relating to our cash, cash equivalents and investments in mutual funds.

Accounts Receivable

Our accounts receivable credit risk is dependent upon the financial stability of our individual clients. As of May 31, 2024 and August 31, 2023, our accounts receivable reserve was
$10.5 million and $7.8 million, respectively. We do not require collateral from our clients; however, no single client represented more than 3.5% of our total revenues in any period
presented. Due to our large and geographically dispersed client base, our concentration of credit risk related to our accounts receivable is generally limited.

Derivative Instruments

Our use of derivative instruments exposes us to credit risk to the extent counterparties may be unable to meet the terms of their agreements. To mitigate credit risk, we limit
counterparties to financial institutions we believe are credit-worthy and use several institutions to reduce concentration risk. We do not expect any losses as a result of default by our
counterparties.

Concentrations of Data Providers

We integrate data from various third-party sources into our hosted proprietary data and analytics platform. As certain data sources have a limited number of suppliers, we make every
effort to assure that, where reasonable, alternative sources are available. We are not dependent on any individual third-party data supplier to meet the needs of our clients, with only two
data suppliers each representing more than 10% of our total data costs for the nine months ended May 31, 2024.

Concentrations of Cloud Providers

Our clients rely on us for the delivery of time-sensitive, up-to-date data and applications. Our business is dependent on our ability to process substantial volumes of data and
transactions rapidly and efficiently. We currently use multiple providers of cloud services; however, one supplier provided the majority of our cloud computing support for the nine
months ended May 31, 2024. We maintain back-up facilities and other redundancies at our data centers, take security measures and have emergency planning procedures to minimize
the risk that an event will disrupt our operations.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

We did not adopt any new standards or updates issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") during the three
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and nine months ended May 31, 2024 that had a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted
SEC Disclosures - The Enhancement and Standardization of Climate-Related Disclosures for Investors

In March 2024, the SEC adopted a final rule under SEC Release Nos. 33-11275 and 34-99678, The Enhancement and Standardization of Climate-Related Disclosures for Investors,
which would require disclosure of certain climate-related information in various filings with the SEC. In April 2024, the SEC stayed implementation of the final rule pending
completion of judicial review. We are currently assessing the potential impact of the rule on our disclosures.

Codification Improvements - Amendments to Remove References to the Concepts Statements

In March 2024, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2024-02, Codification Improvements - Amendments to Remove References to the Concepts Statements. This
ASU amends the FASB Accounting Standards Codification ("the Codification") to remove references to various FASB Concepts Statements and impacts a variety of topics in the
Codification. The amendments apply to all reporting entities within the scope of the affected accounting guidance, but in most instances the references removed are extraneous and not
required to understand or apply the guidance. The amendments in this ASU are to be applied prospectively, although retrospective application is permitted, and are effective for our
interim and annual financial statements starting in fiscal 2026. Early adoption is permitted. This ASU is not expected to have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial
Statements or related disclosures.

Income Taxes - Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740) - Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. This ASU enhances annual income tax disclosures primarily
related to our effective tax rate reconciliation and income taxes paid. The amendments in this ASU are to be applied prospectively, although retrospective application is permitted, and
are effective for our annual financial statements starting in fiscal 2026. Early adoption is permitted. This ASU is not expected to have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial
Statements. We are currently assessing the impact of the new requirements on our disclosures.

Segment Reporting - Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280) - Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures. This ASU enhances segment disclosures
primarily related to significant segment expenses for both interim and annual periods. The amendments in this ASU are to be applied retrospectively and are effective for our annual
financial statements starting in fiscal 2025 and interim periods starting in fiscal 2026. Early adoption is permitted. This ASU is not expected to have a material impact on our
Consolidated Financial Statements. We are currently assessing the impact of the new requirements on our disclosures.

Disclosure Improvements - Codification Amendment in Response to the Securities and Exchange Commission's ("SEC") Disclosure Update and Simplification Initiative

In October 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-06, Disclosure Improvements - Codification Amendment in Response to the SEC's Disclosure Update and Simplification Initiative. The
ASU incorporates several disclosure and presentation requirements currently residing in the SEC Regulations S-X and S-K. The amendments will be applied prospectively and are
effective when the SEC removes the related requirements from Regulations S-X or S-K. Any amendments the SEC does not remove by June 30, 2027 will not be effective. As we are
currently subject to these SEC requirements, this ASU is not expected to have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements or related disclosures.

No other new accounting pronouncements issued or effective during the nine months ended May 31, 2024 have had, or are expected to have, a material impact on our Consolidated
Financial Statements.

3. REVENUE RECOGNITION

We derive most of our revenues by providing client access to our multi-asset class solutions powered by our content refinery (referred to as the "Hosted Platform"). The Hosted
Platform is a subscription-based service that provides client access to various combinations of products and services including workstations, portfolio analytics and enterprise solutions.
We also derive revenues through the CGS platform, a subscription-based service that provides access to a database of universally recognized
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security identifiers and related descriptive data for issuers and their financial instruments (referred to as the "Identifier Platform").

The majority of each of our contracts with clients, whether for Hosted Platform or Identifier Platform services, represents a single performance obligation covering a series of distinct
products and services that are substantially the same and that have the same pattern of transfer to the client. The primary nature of the promise to the client is to provide daily access to
each of these data and analytics platforms over the associated contractual term. These platforms provide integrated financial information, analytical applications and industry-leading
service for the investment community. Based on the nature of the services and products offered by these platforms, we apply an output time-based measure of progress as the client is
simultaneously receiving and consuming the benefits of the respective platform. We recognize revenue for the majority of these platforms in accordance with the 'as invoiced' practical
expedient, because the consideration that we have the right to invoice corresponds directly with the value of our performance to date. There are no significant judgments that would
impact the timing of revenue recognition.

Due to our election of the practical expedient, we do not consider payment terms as a financing component within a client contract when, at contract inception, the period between the
transfer of the promised services to the client and the payment timing for those services will be one year or less.

The majority of client contracts have a duration of one year, or the amount we are entitled to receive corresponds directly with the value of our performance obligations completed to
date. Therefore, we do not disclose the value of the remaining unsatisfied performance obligations.

Disaggregated Revenues

We disaggregate revenues from our client contracts by segment based on our clients' respective geographic locations. Our business segmentation by geography is aligned with the
operational and economic characteristics of our business. Refer to Note 15, Segment Information, for further information.

The following table presents revenues disaggregated by segment:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
May 31, May 31,
(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Americas $ 356,468 $ 337,691 $ 1,057,453 $ 992,179
EMEA 141,279 137,973 420,016 401,219
Asia Pacific 54,961 54,147 163,400 156,313
Total Revenues $ 552,708 $ 529,811 § 1,640,869 $ 1,549,711

4. FAIR VALUE MEASURES

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability (i.e., the "exit price") in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. In determining fair value, the use of various valuation methodologies, including market, income and cost approaches, are permissible. When pricing an asset or
liability, the inputs to these valuation methodologies consider market comparable information, taking into account the principal or most advantageous market in which we would
transact.

Fair Value Hierarchy

The accounting guidance for fair value measurements establishes a three-level fair value hierarchy that requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the
use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The hierarchy ranks the reliability of the inputs, based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement, used to determine fair value. Our assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment and may affect its placement
within the fair value hierarchy. We have categorized our assets and liabilities within the fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1 — applies to assets or liabilities for which there are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — applies to assets or liabilities for which there are inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability such as quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in
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markets with insufficient volume or infrequent transactions (less active markets); or model-derived valuations in which significant inputs are observable or can be derived principally
from, or corroborated by, observable market data.

Level 3 — applies to assets or liabilities for which there are unobservable inputs to the valuation methodology that are significant to the measurement of the fair value of the assets or
liabilities.

The assumptions used in determining fair value represent our best estimates, but these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of our judgment. As a result, if
factors change, our fair value estimates could be materially different in the future and may adversely affect our business and financial results.

(a) Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The following tables show, by level within the fair value hierarchy, our assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of May 31, 2024, and August 31,
2023. We did not have any transfers between levels of fair value measurements during the nine months ended May 31, 2024 and the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023.

Fair Value Measurements as of May 31, 2024

(in thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Money market funds® $ 129,944 $ — % _$ 129,944

Mutual funds® — 68,890 _ 68,890

Derivative instruments® — 543 — 543
Total assets measured at fair value $ 129,944 § 69,433 § — 3 199,377

Liabilities

Derivative instruments® $ — S 1,069 g _ S 1,069

Contingent Liability™® _ _ 8,431 8,431
Total liabilities measured at fair value $ — 3 1,069 $ 8,431 $ 9,500

Fair Value Measurements as of August 31, 2023

(in thousands) Level 1 Level 3 Total

Assets

Money market funds® $ 137,125 $ — 3 3 137,125

Mutual funds® — 32,210 _ 32,210

Derivative instruments® — 4,383 — 4,383
Total assets measured at fair value $ 137,125 § 36,593 $ — 3 173,718

Liabilities

Derivative instruments® $ — S 608 g — S 608

Contingent Liability™® — — 8,008 8,008
Total liabilities measured at fair value $ — S 608 $ 8,008 $ 8,616

(1) Our money market funds are readily convertible into cash. The net asset value of each fund on the last day of the reporting period is used to determine its fair value. Our money market funds are
included in Cash and cash equivalents within the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

(2) Our mutual funds' fair value is based on the fair value of the underlying investments held by the mutual funds, allocated to each share of the mutual fund using a net asset value approach. The fair value
of the underlying investments is based on observable inputs. Our mutual funds are included in Investments within the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

(3) Our derivative instruments include our foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate swap agreements. We utilize the income approach to measure fair value for our foreign exchange forward
contracts. The income approach uses pricing models that rely on market observable inputs such as spot, forward and interest rates, as well as credit default swap spreads. To estimate fair value for our
interest rate swap agreement, we utilize a present value of future cash flows, leveraging a model-derived valuation that uses observable inputs such as interest rate yield curves. Refer to Note 5,
Derivative Instruments, for more information on our derivative instruments and their classification within the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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(4) Our contingent liability resulted from the acquisition of a business during fiscal 2023. This liability reflects the present value of potential future payments that are contingent upon the achievement of
certain specified milestones. The acquisition date fair value of the contingent liability was $7.9 million and was valued using a scenario-based method. This method incorporates unobservable inputs
and assumptions made by management, including the probability of achieving specified milestones, expected time until payment and the discount rate. The fair value of the contingent liability is
remeasured each reporting period until the contingency is resolved, with any changes in fair value recorded in Selling, general and administrative ("SG&A") within the Consolidated Statements of
Income. The change in the fair value of the contingent liability from the acquisition date through May 31, 2024 was driven by the passage of time, with no changes made to key assumptions used in our
fair value estimates.

(b) Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Non-Recurring Basis

Assets that are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis primarily include our property, equipment and leasehold improvements ("PPE"), lease right-of-use ("ROU") assets,
goodwill and intangible assets. These assets are assessed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate their carrying value may not be fully recoverable, and at least
annually for goodwill. The fair values of these non-financial assets are determined based on valuation techniques using the best information available, and may include quoted market
prices, market comparable information and discounted cash flow projections.

(c) Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value for Disclosure Purposes Only

We elected not to carry our debt, which includes our Current debt and Long-term debt, at fair value on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The carrying value of our debt is net of related
unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs.

Our debt is comprised of our Senior Notes and 2022 Credit Facilities. Our Senior Notes are publicly traded; therefore, the fair value of our Senior Notes is estimated based on quoted
prices in active markets as of the reporting date, which are considered Level 1 inputs. The fair value of our 2022 Credit Facilities is estimated based on quoted market prices for similar
instruments, adjusted for unobservable inputs to ensure comparability to our investment rating, maturity terms and principal outstanding, which are considered Level 3 inputs. Refer to
Note 10, Debt for definitions of and more information on our Senior Notes and 2022 Credit Facilities.

The following table summarizes information on our outstanding debt as of May 31, 2024 and August 31, 2023:

May 31, 2024 August 31, 2023
Fair Value Estimated Fair Estimated Fair

(in thousands) Hierarchy Principal Amount Value Principal Amount Value

2027 Notes Level 1 $ 500,000 $ 467,050 $ 500,000 $ 460,890
2032 Notes Level 1 500,000 431,280 500,000 423,700
2022 Term Facility Level 3 187,500 188,102 375,000 376,406
2022 Revolving Facility Level 3 250,000 249,560 250,000 246,875
Total principal amount $ 1,437,500 $ 1,335,992 $ 1,625,000 $ 1,507,871
Total unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs (9,730) (12,300)

Total net carrying value of debt $ 1,427,770 $ 1,612,700

5. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
Cash Flow Hedges

In designing our hedging approach, we consider several factors, including offsetting exposures, the significance of exposures, the forecasting of risk and the potential effectiveness of
the hedge to reduce the volatility of our earnings and cash flows. Factors considered in the decision to hedge an underlying market exposure include the materiality of the risk, the
volatility of the market, the duration of the hedge, the degree to which the underlying exposure is committed, and the availability, effectiveness and cost of derivative instruments.

We utilize derivative instruments to manage risk and not for speculative or trading purposes. We limit counterparties to financial institutions we believe are credit-worthy. Refer to Note
2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Concentrations of Credit Risk, for further discussion on counterparty credit risk.
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We leverage foreign currency forward contracts and interest rate swap agreements to mitigate certain operational exposures from the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange
rates and to manage our floating interest rate exposure, respectively. Our foreign currency forward contracts and interest rate swap agreements are designated as cash flow hedges at
inception. Our cash flow hedges were highly effective with no amount of ineffectiveness recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Income during the nine months ended May 31,
2024 and May 31, 2023. All components of each derivative’s gain or loss were included in the assessment of hedge effectiveness.

For highly effective cash flows hedges, the change in the derivative's fair value is recorded in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss ("AOCL"), net of tax, in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets. Realized gains or losses from the settlement of our foreign currency forward contracts and interest rate swap agreements are subsequently reclassified into SG&A and
Interest expense, respectively, in the Consolidated Statements of Income. There was no discontinuance of our cash flow hedges during the nine months ended May 31, 2024 and
May 31, 2023, and as such, no corresponding gains or losses related to changes in the value of our contracts were reclassified into earnings prior to settlement.

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts

As we operate globally, we are exposed to the risk that our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be impacted by changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
As of May 31, 2024, we maintained a series of foreign currency forward contracts to hedge a portion of our primary currency exposures, namely the British Pound Sterling, Indian
Rupee, Euro and Philippine Peso. We entered into these contracts with the intent to hedge between 25% to 75% of the currency exposure related to our projected operating income in
these primary currencies over their respective hedge periods. The hedge maturity periods range from the fourth quarter of fiscal 2024 through the third quarter of fiscal 2025.

The following table summarizes the gross notional value of our foreign currency forward contracts to purchase the respective local currency with U.S. dollars as of May 31, 2024 and
August 31, 2023:

May 31, 2024 August 31, 2023

Notional Contract Amount Notional Contract Amount
(in thousands) Local Currency Amount (USD) Local Currency Amount (USD)
Indian Rupee Rs 4,481,555 $ 53,400 Rs 3,363,150 $ 40,300
British Pound Sterling £ 41,500 52,403 £ 45,000 56,098
Euro € 44,200 48,429 € 39,000 42,646
Philippine Peso P 1,874,172 32,900 P 1,888,541 33,600
Total $ 187,132 $ 172,644

Refer to Part I, Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for further discussion of our exposure to foreign exchange
rate fluctuations.

Interest Rate Swap Agreements
2024 Swap Agreement

On March 1, 2024, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement ("2024 Swap Agreement") with a notional amount of $200.0 million to hedge a portion of our outstanding floating
Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") debt with a fixed interest rate of 5.145%. The notional amount of the 2024 Swap Agreement declines by $50.0 million on a quarterly
basis beginning May 31, 2024 and matures on February 28, 2025. As of May 31, 2024, the notional amount of the 2024 Swap Agreement was $150.0 million.

2022 Swap Agreement
On March 1, 2022, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement ("2022 Swap Agreement") with a notional amount of $800.0 million to hedge a portion of our outstanding floating
SOFR debt with a fixed interest rate of 1.162%. The notional amount of the 2022 Swap Agreement declined by $100.0 million on a quarterly basis beginning May 31, 2022. Effective

December 30, 2022, we partially novated our 2022 Swap Agreement to equally apportion the then outstanding notional amount of the interest rate swap between two counterparties.
No other terms of the 2022 Swap Agreement were amended, terminated, or otherwise modified prior to its maturity. The 2022 Swap Agreement matured on February 28, 2024.
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Refer to Note 10, Debt, for further discussion of our outstanding floating SOFR debt and refer to Part I, Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk of this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for further discussion of our exposure to interest rate risk on our variable interest rate debt outstanding.

Gross Notional Value and Fair Value of Derivative Instruments

The following is a summary of the gross notional values of our derivative instruments:

Gross Notional Value

(in thousands) May 31, 2024 August 31, 2023

Foreign currency forward contracts $ 187,132 § 172,644
Interest rate swap agreement 150,000 200,000
Total cash flow hedges $ 337,132 $ 372,644

The following is a summary of the fair values of our derivative instruments:

Fair Value of Derivative Instruments

(in thousands) Derivative Assets

Derivative Liabilities

Derivatives designated as hedging Balance Sheet

Balance Sheet

instruments Classification May 31, 2024 August 31, 2023 Classification May 31,2024  August 31, 2023
Prepaid expenses and other Accounts payable and

Foreign currency forward contracts current assets $ 482 § 1,260 accrued expenses $ 1,069 $ 608
Prepaid expenses and other Accounts payable and

Interest rate swap agreement current assets 61 3,123 accrued expenses — —

Total cash flow hedges $ 543 $ 4,383 $ 1,069 $ 608

Derivative Recognition

The following table provides the pre-tax effect of cash flow hedge accounting on our AOCL for the three months ended May 31, 2024 and May 31, 2023:

Gain (Loss) Recognized in AOCL on

Gain (Loss) Reclassified from AOCL

Derivatives into Income
(in thousands) May 31, May 31,
Location of Gain (Loss) Reclassified
Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationships 2024 2023 from AOCL into Income 2024 2023
Foreign currency forward contracts $ (1,033) $ 919 SG&A $ (518) $ (230)
Interest rate swap agreement 124 (172) Interest expense 63 3,725
Total cash flow hedges $ (909) $ 747 $ (455) $ 3,495
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The following table provides the pre-tax effect of cash flow hedge accounting on our AOCL for the nine months ended May 31, 2024 and May 31, 2023:

Gain (Loss) Reclassified in AOCL on Gain (Loss) Reclassified from AOCL
Derivatives into Income
(in thousands) May 31, May 31,
Location of Gain (Loss) Reclassified

Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationships 2024 2023 from AOCL into Income 2024 2023
Foreign currency forward contracts $ (1,439) $ 4,027 SG&A $ (200) $ (5,474)
Interest rate swap agreement 151 4,104 Interest expense 3,213 10,567
Total cash flow hedges $ (1,288) $ 8,131 $ 3,013 § 5,093

As of May 31, 2024, we estimate that net pre-tax derivative losses of $0.5 million included in AOCL will be reclassified into earnings within the next 12 months.
Offsetting of Derivative Instruments

We enter into master netting arrangements designed to permit net settlement of derivative transactions among the respective counterparties, settled on the same date and in the same
currency. As of May 31, 2024 and August 31, 2023, there were no material amounts recorded net in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

6. GOODWILL

Changes in the carrying value of goodwill by segment for the nine months ended May 31, 2024 are as follows:

(in thousands) Americas EMEA Asia Pacific Total

Balance at August 31, 2023 $ 704,759 $ 297,734 § 2,243 § 1,004,736
Acquisitions (305) — — (305)
Foreign currency translations o 486 (168) 318

Balance at May 31, 2024 $ 704,454 $ 298,220 $ 2,075 $ 1,004,749

Goodwill is not amortized as it is estimated to have an indefinite life. Goodwill impairment is tested at the reporting unit level, which is consistent with our reportable segments. We
test goodwill annually during the fourth quarter of each fiscal year or more frequently if events and circumstances occur indicating that it is more likely than not that the fair value of
any one of our reporting units is less than its respective carrying value. If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds the fair value, then the goodwill is considered impaired and
written down to the reporting unit’s fair value.

We tested our goodwill for impairment during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2023 utilizing a quantitative analysis, bypassing the optional qualitative assessment. We concluded there was

no impairment as the fair value of each of our reporting units exceeded its carrying value. No events or circumstances were identified during the nine months ended May 31, 2024 that
would indicate it is more likely than not that goodwill has been impaired.
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7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

We amortize intangible assets on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives. The following table presents the estimated useful life, gross carrying amounts and accumulated
amortization totals related to our identifiable intangible assets as of May 31, 2024 and August 31, 2023:

May 31, 2024 August 31,2023
Estimated Useful ~ Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying

(in thousands, except useful lives) Life (years) Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount
ABA business process 36 $ 1,583,000 $ 98,938 § 1,484,062 ($ 1,583,000 $ 65,958 $ 1,517,042
Client relationships 11 to 26 265,356 77,430 187,926 265,315 68,701 196,614
Developed technology 3to5 163,037 56,429 106,608 109,222 45,560 63,662
Data content) 71020 81,583 36,842 44,741 81,021 33,108 47,913
Software technology 3to 10 142,550 114,716 27,834 142,395 108,702 33,693
Non-compete agreements 4 290 66 224 290 12 278

Total $ 2,235,816 $ 384,421 § 1,851,395 [$ 2,181,243 § 322,041 $ 1,859,202

(1) As of May 31, 2024, we combined our Data content and Acquired databases intangible assets together, currently presented as Data content. We conformed the comparative figures as of August 31,
2023 to the current period's presentation.

The weighted average useful life of our intangible assets as of May 31, 2024 was 32.0 years. Intangible assets are tested for impairment qualitatively on a quarterly basis or whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset group is not recoverable. If indicators of impairment are present, our intangible assets are tested for
impairment by comparing the carrying value to undiscounted cash flows and, if impaired, written down to fair value based on discounted cash flows. We did not identify a material
impairment nor a material change to the estimated remaining useful lives of our intangible assets during the nine months ended May 31, 2024 and May 31, 2023. Our intangible assets
have no assigned residual values.

The following table presents the amortization expense for our intangible assets which is included in Cost of services in our Consolidated Statements of Income:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
May 31, May 31,
(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Amortization expense $ 27,394 $ 21,954 $ 76,247 $ 65,390

As of May 31, 2024, estimated intangible asset amortization expense for each of the next five years and thereafter is as follows:

(in thousands)

Years Ended August 31, Estimated Amortization Expense
2024 (remaining three months) $ 27,811
2025 108,800
2026 101,158
2027 76,208
2028 63,690
Thereafter 1,473,728
Total $ 1,851,395

8. INCOME TAXES

We are subject to taxation in the United States and various foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct our business. Income tax expense is based on taxable income determined in
accordance with current enacted laws and tax rates. Deferred income taxes
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are recorded for the temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of our assets and liabilities using currently enacted tax rates.
Income Taxes Provision and Effective Tax Rate

The provision for income taxes and the effective tax rate are as follows:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
May 31, May 31,
(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Income before income taxes $ 190,532 $ 161,998 $ 534,373 $ 476,645
Provision for income taxes $ 32,397 §$ 27335 % 86,743  § 73,591
Effective tax rate 17.0 % 16.9 % 16.2 % 15.4 %

Our provision for income taxes for interim periods is calculated by applying an estimate of our annual effective tax rate to our quarter and year-to-date results, adjusted for discrete
items recorded in the period. The computation of the annual estimated effective tax rate at each interim period requires certain estimates and assumptions including, but not limited to,
the expected pretax income (or loss) for the year, projections of the proportion of income (or loss) earned and taxed in foreign jurisdictions, permanent and temporary differences and
the likelihood of recovering deferred tax assets, then adjusted for any discrete items. On a quarterly basis, we update the estimate of our annual effective tax rate as new events occur,
assumptions change, or additional information is obtained.

Our effective tax rate of 17.0% for the three months ended May 31, 2024 was relatively flat compared with 16.9% for the three months ended May 31, 2023. This was primarily due to
higher pretax income, which reduced the effective tax rate impact of certain tax benefits, offset by increased utilization of foreign tax credits and excess tax benefits from stock-based
compensation.

Our effective tax rate for the nine months ended May 31, 2024 was 16.2%, compared with 15.4% for the nine months ended May 31, 2023. This increase was primarily due to higher
pretax income, which reduced the effective tax rate impact of certain tax benefits, partially offset by increased utilization of foreign tax credits.

For the periods presented, our effective tax rates differ from the U.S. corporate income tax rate primarily due to the impact of research and development ("R&D") credits, the foreign
derived intangible income ("FDII") deduction, excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation and utilization of foreign tax credits, partially offset by our net state income taxes.

Undistributed Foreign Earnings

We permanently reinvest all foreign undistributed earnings, except in jurisdictions where earnings can be repatriated substantially free of tax. It is not practicable to determine the
deferred tax liability that would be payable if these earnings were repatriated to the U.S.

Inflation Reduction Act of 2022

On August 16, 2022, the Inflation Reduction Act ("IRA") was signed into law. The IRA contains several revisions to the Internal Revenue Code effective for taxable years beginning
after December 31, 2022, including a 15% minimum income tax on certain large corporations. We do not expect this revision to have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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9. LEASES

Our lease portfolio is primarily related to our office space, under various operating lease agreements. We review new arrangements at inception to evaluate whether we obtain
substantially all the economic benefits of and have the right to control the use of an asset. Our lease ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized based on the present value of future
minimum lease payments at lease commencement (which includes fixed lease payments and certain qualifying index-based variable payments) over the reasonably certain lease term,
leveraging an estimated incremental borrowing rate ("IBR"). Certain adjustments to calculate our lease ROU assets may be required due to prepayments, lease incentives received and
initial direct costs incurred. We account for lease and non-lease components as a single lease component, which we recognize over the expected lease term on a straight-line expense
basis in occupancy costs (a component of SG&A expense) in our Consolidated Statements of Income.

As of May 31, 2024, we recognized $137.2 million of Lease ROU assets, net and $213.8 million of combined Current lease liabilities and Long-term lease liabilities in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Our leases have a remaining lease term ranging from less than one year to just under 12 years. Our lease agreements may include options to extend or
terminate the lease which are included in the measurement of our lease term when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise the option.

The following table presents our future minimum lease payments and a reconciliation to the combined Current lease liabilities and Long-term lease liabilities in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets as of May 31, 2024:

(in thousands) Minimum Lease

Years Ended August 31, Payments

2024 (remaining three months) $ 9,767
2025 39,276
2026 39,103
2027 37,886
2028 33,359
Thereafter 89,814
Total minimum lease payments $ 249,205
Less: Imputed interest 35,433
Total lease liabilities $ 213,772

The following table includes components of our occupancy costs:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
May 31, May 31,
(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Operating lease costs(!) $ 7,583 $ 8,170 $ 22,846 $ 24,403
Variable lease costs® $ 3,740 $ 4,645 $ 13,046 $ 12,699

(1) Operating lease costs include costs associated with fixed lease payments and index-based variable payments that qualified for lease accounting under ASC 842, Leases and complied with the practical
expedients and exceptions we elected.

(2) Variable lease costs include costs that were not fixed at the lease commencement date and are not dependent on an index or rate. These costs were not included in the measurement of lease liabilities

and primarily include variable non-lease costs, such as utilities, real estate taxes, insurance and maintenance, as well as lease costs for those leases that qualified for the short-term lease exception.

The following table summarizes our weighted average remaining lease term and weighted average discount rate related to our operating leases recorded on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets:

As of May 31, 2024 As of August 31, 2023
Weighted average remaining lease term (in years) 7.1 7.8
Weighted average discount rate (IBR) 4.6 % 4.5 %
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The following table summarizes supplemental cash flow information related to our operating leases:

Nine Months Ended
May 31, May 31,
(in thousands) 2024 2023
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities $ 29,579 $ 29,245
Lease ROU assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities" $ 10,183 § 13,872
Reductions to ROU assets resulting from reductions to lease liabilities® $ @281)$ —

(1) Primarily includes new lease arrangements entered into during the respective period and contract modifications that extend our lease terms and/or provide additional rights.

(2) Primarily relates to lease term reassessments based on contractual options to early terminate, resulting in a reduction to the lease liability and the corresponding lease ROU asset.

10. DEBT

We elected not to carry our debt at fair value. The carrying value of our debt is net of related unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs. Our debt obligations as of May 31, 2024
and August 31, 2023 consisted of the following:

Contractual

(in thousands) Issuance Date Maturity Date May 31, 2024 August 31, 2023
Current debt

2022 Term Facility 3/1/2022 3/1/2025 $ 187,500 $ —
Total unamortized debt issuance costs on Current debt (356) —
Total Current debt $ 187,144 § —
Long-term debt

2022 Term Facility 3/1/2022 3/1/2025 $ —3 375,000

2022 Revolving Facility 3/1/2022 3/1/2027 250,000 250,000

2027 Notes 3/1/2022 3/1/2027 500,000 500,000

2032 Notes 3/1/2022 3/1/2032 500,000 500,000
Total unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs 9,374) (12,300)
Total Long-term debt $ 1,240,626 $ 1,612,700
Total debt $ 1,427,770 $ 1,612,700

As of May 31, 2024, annual maturities on our debt obligations, based on contractual maturity date, were as follows:

(in thousands)

Years Ended August 31, Maturities

2024 (remaining three months) $ —
2025 187,500
2026 =
2027 750,000
2028 —
Thereafter 500,000
Total $ 1,437,500

2022 Credit Agreement

On March 1, 2022, we entered into a credit agreement (the "2022 Credit Agreement") and borrowed an aggregate principal amount of $1.0 billion under its senior unsecured term loan
credit facility (the "2022 Term Facility") and $250.0 million of the
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available $500.0 million under its senior unsecured revolving credit facility (the "2022 Revolving Facility" and, together with the 2022 Term Facility, the "2022 Credit Facilities"). The
2022 Term Facility matures on March 1, 2025, and the 2022 Revolving Facility matures on March 1, 2027. The 2022 Revolving Facility allows for the availability of up to $100.0
million in the form of letters of credit and up to $50.0 million in the form of swingline loans. We may seek additional commitments under the 2022 Revolving Facility from lenders or
other financial institutions up to an aggregate principal amount of $750.0 million.

We used these borrowings, along with the net proceeds from the issuance of the Senior Notes (as defined below) and cash on hand, to finance the consideration for the CGS
acquisition, to repay prior outstanding borrowings and to pay related transaction fees, costs and expenses.

During fiscal 2022, we incurred approximately $9.5 million in debt issuance costs related to the 2022 Credit Facilities. Debt issuance costs are presented in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of the debt liability. Debt issuance costs are amortized to Interest expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income on a
straight-line basis over the contractual term of the debt, which approximates the effective interest method.

We may voluntarily prepay loans under the 2022 Credit Facilities at any time without premium or penalty. During the three and nine months ended May 31, 2024, we repaid $62.5
million and $187.5 million, respectively, under the 2022 Term Facility, inclusive of voluntary prepayments of $50.0 million and $150.0 million, respectively. Since loan inception on
March 1, 2022, we have repaid $812.5 million under the 2022 Term Facility, inclusive of voluntary prepayments of $712.5 million.

From the borrowing date through November 30, 2023, the outstanding borrowings under the 2022 Credit Facilities bore interest at a rate equal to the applicable one-month Term SOFR
plus a 1.1% spread (comprised of a 1.0% interest rate margin based on a debt leverage pricing grid plus a 0.1% credit spread adjustment). From December 1, 2023 through May 31,
2024, the spread decreased to 0.975% (comprised of a 0.875% interest rate margin based on a debt leverage pricing grid plus a 0.1% credit spread adjustment). Interest on the 2022
Credit Facilities is currently payable on the last business day of each month, in arrears.

Additionally, we pay a commitment fee on the daily unused amount of the 2022 Revolving Facility using a pricing grid based on our senior unsecured non-credit enhanced long-term
debt rating and our total leverage ratio. From the borrowing date through November 30, 2023, the commitment fee was 0.125%, which subsequently decreased to 0.1% through
May 31, 2024.

The 2022 Credit Agreement contains usual and customary event of default provisions for facilities of this type, which are subject to usual and customary grace periods and materiality
thresholds. If an event of default occurs under the 2022 Credit Agreement, the lenders may, among other things, terminate their commitments and declare all outstanding borrowings
immediately due and payable.

The 2022 Credit Agreement contains usual and customary affirmative and negative covenants for facilities of this type, including a financial covenant requiring maintenance of a total
leverage ratio of no greater than 3.75 to 1.00 as of May 31, 2024. We were in compliance with all covenants and requirements of the 2022 Credit Agreement as of May 31, 2024.

Swap Agreements

2024 Swap Agreement

On March 1, 2024, we entered into the 2024 Swap Agreement to hedge a portion of our outstanding floating SOFR debt with a fixed interest rate of 5.145%.
2022 Swap Agreement

On March 1, 2022, we entered into the 2022 Swap Agreement to hedge a portion of our outstanding floating SOFR debt with a fixed interest rate of 1.162%. Effective December 30,
2022, we apportioned the then outstanding notional amount of the 2022 Swap Agreement between two counterparties. The 2022 Swap Agreement matured on February 28, 2024.

Refer to Note 5, Derivative Instruments for further discussion of the 2022 Swap Agreement and the 2024 Swap Agreement.
Senior Notes

On March 1, 2022, we completed a public offering of $500.0 million aggregate principal amount of 2.900% Senior Notes due March 1, 2027 (the "2027 Notes") and $500.0 million
aggregate principal amount of 3.450% Senior Notes due March 1, 2032 (the "2032 Notes" and, together with the 2027 Notes, the "Senior Notes"). The Senior Notes were issued
pursuant to an indenture, dated as of March 1, 2022, by and between us and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as trustee (the
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"Trustee"), as supplemented by the supplemental indenture, dated as of March 1, 2022, between us and the Trustee (the "Supplemental Indenture").

The Senior Notes were issued at an aggregate discount of $2.8 million and we incurred approximately $9.1 million in debt issuance costs. Debt discounts and debt issuance costs are
presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as a net direct deduction from the carrying amount of the debt liability. The debt discounts and debt issuance costs are amortized to
Interest expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income over the contractual term of the debt, leveraging the effective interest method.

Interest on the Senior Notes is payable semiannually in arrears on March 1 and September 1 of each year.

We may redeem the Senior Notes, in whole or in part, at any time at specified redemption prices, plus any accrued and unpaid interest. Upon the occurrence of a change of control
triggering event (as defined in the Supplemental Indenture), we must offer to repurchase the Senior Notes at 101% of their principal amount, plus any accrued and unpaid interest.

Interest Expense

The following table presents the interest expense on our outstanding debt which is a component of Interest expense in our Consolidated Statements of Income:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
May 31, May 31,
(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Interest expense on outstanding debt(" $ 16,558 $ 16,345 $ 49,876 $ 49,601

(1) Interest expense on our outstanding debt includes the related amortization of debt issuance costs and debt discounts. Interest expense is net of the effects of our interest rate swap agreements.

11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Commitments represent obligations, such as those for future purchases of goods or services, that are not yet recorded on the balance sheet as liabilities. We record liabilities for
commitments when incurred (i.e., when the goods or services are received).

Except for income tax contingencies, we accrue for contingencies when we believe that a loss is probable, and the amount can be reasonably estimated. Judgment is required to
determine both the probability and the estimated amount of loss. If the reasonable estimate of a probable loss is a range, we record the most probable estimate of the loss, or the
minimum amount when no amount within the range is a better estimate than any other amount. We review accruals on a quarterly basis and adjust, as necessary, to reflect the impact of
negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel and other current information. Contingent gains are recognized only when realized.

Income tax contingencies related to uncertain tax positions are accounted for in accordance with applicable accounting guidance. Refer to Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies - Income Taxes in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8. of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023
for further details.

Purchase Commitments with Suppliers and Vendors

Purchase obligations represent our legally-binding agreements to purchase fixed or minimum quantities at determinable prices. As of August 31, 2023, we had total purchase
obligations with suppliers of $362.2 million. Our total purchase obligations as of August 31, 2023 primarily related to hosting services, acquisition of data, and, to a lesser extent, third-
party software providers. Hosting services support our hybrid cloud strategy, which relies in large part on third-party hosting providers. Data is an integral component of the value we
provide to our clients. Our commitments to third-party software providers mainly include internal-use software licenses. For the nine months ended May 31, 2024, there were no
material changes to our purchase obligations.

We also have contractual obligations related to our lease liabilities and outstanding debt. Refer to Note 9, Leases and Note 10, Debt for information regarding lease commitments and
outstanding debt obligations, respectively.

Capital Commitments
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As of May 31, 2024 and August 31, 2023, we had outstanding capital commitments related to an investment of $0.6 million and $0.7 million, respectively.
Letters of Credit

From time to time, we are required to obtain letters of credit in the ordinary course of business. As of May 31, 2024 and August 31, 2023, we had $0.4 million and $0.6 million of
standby letters of credit outstanding, respectively. No liabilities related to these arrangements are reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Our 2022 Revolving Facility allows for the availability of up to $100.0 million in the form of letters of credit. We have not obtained any letters of credit under the 2022 Revolving
Facility since its inception. Refer to Note 10, Debt, for information regarding the 2022 Revolving Facility.

Contingencies
Legal Matters

We are engaged in various legal proceedings, claims and litigation that have arisen in the ordinary course of business. The outcome of all the matters against us are subject to future
resolution, including the uncertainties of litigation. Based on information available at May 31, 2024, our management believes that the ultimate outcome of these unresolved matters
against us, individually or in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, our results of operations or our cash flows.

Income Taxes

As a multinational company operating in many states and countries, we are routinely audited by various taxing authorities and have reserved for potential adjustments to our provision
for income taxes that may result from examinations by, or any negotiated settlements with, these tax authorities. We believe that the final outcome of these examinations or settlements
will not have a material effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or our cash flows. If events occur which indicate payment of these amounts is unnecessary,
the reversal of the liabilities would result in the recognition of tax benefits in the period we determine the liabilities are no longer necessary. If our estimates of the federal, state and
foreign income tax liabilities are less than the ultimate assessment, additional expense would result.

Sales Tax Matters

On August 8, 2019, we received a Notice of Intent to Assess (the "First Notice") additional sales taxes, interest and underpayment penalties (the "Sales Taxes") from the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts Department of Revenue (the "Commonwealth") relating to the tax periods from January 1, 2006 through December 31, 2013. On July 20, 2021, we
received a Notice of Intent to Assess (the "Second Notice") additional Sales Taxes from the Commonwealth relating to the tax periods from January 1, 2014 through December 31,
2018. On December 29, 2022, we received a Notice of Intent to Assess (the "Third Notice"; cumulatively with the First and Second Notices, the "Notices") additional Sales Taxes from
the Commonwealth relating to the tax periods from January 1, 2019 through June 30, 2021. We requested pre-assessment conferences with the Department of Revenue's Office of
Appeals to appeal the Notices, and on May 24, 2023, we received a Letter of Determination from the Commonwealth upholding the Notices, along with a Notice of Assessment for all
the periods covered by the Notices. On June 22, 2023, we filed an Application for Abatement with the Commonwealth disputing all amounts assessed, which was subsequently denied.
On February 20, 2024, we received a “Notice of Selection for Audit” for sales tax for the period from July 1, 2021 through December 31, 2023. We have filed petitions with the
Appellate Tax Board to appeal all amounts assessed by the Commonwealth and believe that we will ultimately prevail; however, if we do not prevail, the amount of these assessments
could have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

We have concluded that some payment to the Commonwealth is probable. We have recorded an accrual which is not material to our Consolidated Financial Statements. While we
believe that the assumptions and estimates used to determine the accrual are reasonable, future developments could result in adjustments being made to this accrual.

Indemnifications

As permitted or required under Delaware law and to the maximum extent allowable under that law, we have certain obligations to indemnify each of our current and former officers
and directors for certain events or occurrences while the officer or director is, or was, serving at our request in such capacity. These indemnification obligations are valid as long as the
director or officer acted in good faith and in a manner the person reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of FactSet, and with respect to any criminal action or
proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. It is not
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possible to determine the maximum potential amount for claims made under the indemnification obligations due to the unique set of facts and circumstances likely to be involved in
each particular claim and indemnification provision; however, we have purchased a director and officer insurance policy that mitigates our exposure and may enable us to recover a
portion of any future amounts paid. We do not believe, based on historical experience and information currently available, that it is probable that any material amounts will be required
to be paid under such indemnification obligations.

12. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

The following table presents the shares of common stock repurchased under our share repurchase program and acquired from holders of our stock-based awards upon vesting to satisfy
tax withholding requirements:

Share Repurchases

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
May 31, May 31,

(in thousands, except share data) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Repurchases of common stock under the share repurchase program 135,150 165,950 384,150 165,950
Total cost of common stock repurchased under the share repurchase program $ 59,753 $ 67,092 $ 171,918 § 67,092
Repurchases of common stock to satisfy tax withholding requirements due upon vesting of
stock-based awards 2,843 1,239 35,226 28,952
Total cost of repurchases of common stock to satisfy withholding requirements due upon
vesting of stock-based awards $ 1,224 § 493 § 15,689 $ 12,274

We may repurchase shares of our common stock under our share repurchase program from time-to-time in the open market or via privately negotiated transactions, subject to market
conditions. We suspended our share repurchase program beginning in the second quarter of fiscal 2022, with the exception of potential minor repurchases to offset dilution from grants
of equity awards or repurchases to satisfy withholding tax obligations due upon the vesting of stock-based awards, to prioritize the repayment of debt under the 2022 Credit Facilities.
We resumed our share repurchase program in the third quarter of fiscal 2023.

There is no defined number of shares to be repurchased over a specified timeframe through the life of our share repurchase program. As of May 31, 2024, $128.1 million remained
authorized under our share repurchase program for future share repurchases. Refer to Part II, Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds, of this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for further discussion on our share repurchase program.

In addition to our share repurchase program, we also acquire shares of our common stock from holders of our stock-based awards to satisfy withholding tax requirements due at
vesting. Shares acquired from these holders do not reduce the amount authorized for repurchase under the share repurchase program.

Equity-based Awards

Refer to Note 14, Stock-Based Compensation for more information on equity awards issued during the nine months ended May 31, 2024 and May 31, 2023.

27



Table of Contents

Dividends

Our Board of Directors approved the following dividends:

Dividends per
Share of Total Amount

Year Ended Common Stock Record Date (in thousands) Payment Date
Fiscal 2024

First Quarter $ 0.98 November 30, 2023 $ 37,299 December 21, 2023

Second Quarter $ 0.98 February 29, 2024 $ 37,360 March 21, 2024

Third Quarter $ 1.04 May 31, 2024 $ 39,589 June 20, 2024
Fiscal 2023

First Quarter $ 0.89 November 30, 2022 $ 34,010 December 15, 2022

Second Quarter $ 0.89 February 28, 2023 $ 34,099 March 16, 2023

Third Quarter $ 0.98 May 31, 2023 $ 37,442 June 15,2023

In the third quarter of fiscal 2024, our Board of Directors approved a 6% increase in the regular quarterly dividend from $0.98 to $1.04 per share. Future cash dividend payments are
subject to final determination by our Board of Directors and will depend on our earnings, capital requirements, financial condition and other relevant factors.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The components of AOCL as of May 31, 2024 and August 31, 2023 were as follows:

(in thousands) May 31, 2024 August 31, 2023
Accumulated unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges, net of tax $ 295 % 2,880
Accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments (92,351) (90,021)
Total AOCL $ (92,646) $ (87,141)
13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per common share ("Basic EPS") is computed by dividing net income by the number of weighted average common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted
earnings per common share ("Diluted EPS") is calculated by using the treasury stock method which assumes the issuance of common stock for all potentially dilutive stock-based
awards.

A reconciliation of the weighted average shares outstanding used in the Basic EPS and Diluted EPS computation is as follows:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
May 31, May 31,

(in thousands, except per share data) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Numerator
Net income used for calculating Basic EPS and Diluted EPS $ 158,135 $ 134,663 $ 447,630 $ 403,054
Denominator
Weighted average common shares used in the calculation of Basic EPS 38,089 38,278 38,069 38,227
Common stock equivalents associated with stock-based compensation
plan 551 634 575 709
Shares used in the calculation of Diluted EPS 38,640 38,912 38,644 38,936
Basic EPS $ 415 § 352 § 11.76 $ 10.54
Diluted EPS $ 4.09 § 3.46 $ 11.58 $ 10.35
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The following table presents the potential common shares that were excluded from Diluted EPS as they relate to stock-based awards that were antidilutive or subject to performance
conditions for which the necessary conditions have not been satisfied by the end of the reporting period:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
May 31, May 31,
(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Stock options 763 583 255 583
Restricted stock units and Performance share units 93 93 95 93

14. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Our stock-based awards include stock options, restricted stock units ("RSUs"), performance share units ("PSUs") and common stock purchased by eligible employees under our
employee stock purchase plan ("ESPP"). We measure and recognize stock-based compensation for all stock-based awards granted to our employees and our non-employee members of
the Board of Directors ("non-employee directors") based on their estimated grant date fair value. To estimate the grant date fair value, we utilize a lattice-binomial option-pricing model
("binomial model") for our employee stock options and the Black-Scholes model for non-employee director stock options and common stock purchased by eligible employees under
our ESPP.

For RSUs and PSUs (collectively, "Restricted Stock Awards"), the grant date fair value is measured by reducing the grant date price of our common stock by the present value of future
dividend payments on the underlying stock during the requisite service period. The number of PSUs granted assumes target-level achievement of the specified performance levels
within the payout range. The ultimate number of common shares that may be earned from a PSU is determined based on the actual achievement of the specified performance levels
within the payout range.

Stock-based compensation expense for stock option and RSU awards is recognized over the requisite service period using the straight-line method. For stock option and RSU grants,
the amount of stock-based compensation expense recognized on any date is at least equal to the vested portion of the award on that date.

Our PSUs require us to make assumptions regarding the probability of achieving specified performance levels established at the time of grant and we recognize stock-based
compensation expense using the straight-line method over the requisite service period. The probability of achieving the specified performance levels is reviewed on a quarterly basis to
ensure the amount of stock-based compensation expense appropriately reflects the expected achievement. The ultimate number of common shares that may be earned pursuant to our
PSU awards depends on the level of our achievement of stated financial performance objectives. The achievement range was 0% to 200% for the November 2023 annual grant and 0%
to 150% for the November 2022 annual grant.

For our ESPP, stock-based compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the offering period.

Stock-based awards are subject to the continued employment and continued service at the time of vesting by employees and non-employee directors, respectively. Compensation
expense for stock-based awards is recorded net of estimated forfeitures, which are based on historical forfeiture rates and are revised if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.

The following table presents the stock-based compensation for the periods presented:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
May 31, May 31,
(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Stock-based compensation expense $ 15,745 $ 16,865 $ 46,707 $ 44,365

There were no stock-based compensation costs capitalized in any periods presented. As of May 31, 2024, $141.2 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to non-
vested stock-based awards is expected to be recognized over a weighted average vesting period of 2.9 years.

As of May 31, 2024, we had 3.7 million employee stock-based awards available for grant under the FactSet Research Systems Inc. Stock Option and Award Plan, as Amended and
Restated (the "LTIP").
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Employee Stock Option Awards

Our annual employee stock option grant, made during the first quarter of each fiscal year, makes up the majority of our employee stock options granted under the LTIP in each fiscal

year.

The following table presents the employee stock options granted under the LTIP for the nine months ended May 31, 2024 and May 31, 2023:

Nine Months Ended
May 31,
2024 2023
Stock options granted® 243,379 268,185
Weighted average exercise price 436.61 § 426.22
Weighted average grant date fair value 13259 § 125.57

(1) Includes the annual employee grant on November 1, 2023 and November 1, 2022 of 242,371 and 266,051 stock options, respectively. These annual employee grants both vest 20% annually on the
anniversary date of the grant and are fully vested after five years, expiring ten years from the date of grant.

As part of the November 1, 2023 annual employee grant, the estimated grant date fair value, using the binomial model, leveraged the following assumptions:

November 1, 2023 Annual Employee Grant Details

Stock options granted 242,371
Risk-free interest rate 4.78% - 5.53%
Expected life (years) 6.62
Expected volatility 23.5%
Dividend yield 0.90%
Estimated fair value $132.60
Exercise price $436.57

Employee Restricted Stock Awards

Our annual employee Restricted Stock Awards grant, made during the first quarter of each fiscal year, makes up the majority of our employee Restricted Stock Awards granted under
the LTIP in each fiscal year. These awards entitle the holders to shares of common stock as the Restricted Stock Awards vest, but not to dividends declared on the underlying shares
while the stock subject to the Restricted Stock Awards is unvested.

The following table presents the employee Restricted Stock Awards granted under the LTIP for the nine months ended May 31, 2024 and May 31, 2023:

Nine Months Ended
May 31,
2024 2023
Weighted Average Weighted Average
Shares Grant Date Fair Value Shares Grant Date Fair Value
Per Award Per Award
RSUs Granted" 74,355 $ 423.07 47,474 $ 415.31
PSUs Granted® 37,008 $ 424.63 34,482 % 415.31
Performance adjustment - PSUs® 14,472 $ 306.33 8,542 $ 245.67
Total Restricted Stock Awards 125,835 90,498

(1) Includes the annual employee grant on November 1, 2023 and November 1, 2022 of 63,722 and 46,264 RSUs, respectively. The majority of the RSUs granted vest 20% annually on the anniversary

date of the grant and are fully vested after five years.
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(2) Includes the annual employee grant on November 1, 2023 and November 1, 2022 of 36,860 and 34,482 PSUs, respectively. The majority of the PSUs granted cliff vest on the third anniversary of the
grant date, subject to the achievement of certain performance metrics. The ultimate number of common shares that may be earned pursuant to our PSU awards depends on the level of our achievement
of stated financial performance objectives. The achievement range was 0% to 200% for the November 2023 annual grant and 0% to 150% for the November 2022 annual grant.

(3) Additional PSUs were granted during the first quarter of fiscal 2024 and fiscal 2023 based on performance above the specified target level of achievement for PSUs granted on November 9, 2020 and
November 1, 2019, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Shares of FactSet common stock may be purchased by eligible employees under our ESPP in three-month intervals. The purchase price is equal to 85% of the lesser of the fair market
value of our common stock on the first day or the last day of each three-month offering period. Employee purchases may not exceed 10% of their gross compensation, and there is a
$25,000 contribution limit per employee for each calendar year. Shares purchased through our ESPP cannot be sold or otherwise transferred for 18 months after purchase. Dividends
paid on shares held in our ESPP are used to purchase additional ESPP shares at the market price on the dividend payment date.

Stock-based compensation expense related to our ESPP was $0.7 million for both the three months ended May 31, 2024 and May 31, 2023. Stock-based compensation expense related
to our ESPP was $1.9 million for the nine months ended May 31, 2024 and $2.0 million for the nine months ended May 31, 2023.

As of May 31, 2024, our ESPP had 36,607 shares reserved for future issuance.

15. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise that have the following characteristics: (i) they engage in business activities from which they may earn revenue and
incur expense, (ii) their operating results are regularly reviewed by the CODM for resource allocation decisions and performance assessment, and (iii) their discrete financial
information is available. Our Chief Executive Officer functions as our CODM.

We have three operating segments: Americas, EMEA and Asia Pacific. This is how our CODM manages our business and the geographic markets in which we operate. These operating
segments are consistent with our reportable segments.

The Americas segment serves our clients throughout North, Central, and South America. The EMEA segment serves our clients in Europe, the Middle East, and Africa. The Asia
Pacific segment serves our clients in Asia and Australasia. Segment revenues reflect sales to our clients based on their respective geographic locations.

Each segment records expenses related to its individual operations with the exception of expenditures associated with our data centers, third-party data costs and corporate headquarters

charges, which are recorded by the Americas segment and are not allocated to the other segments. The expenses incurred at our content collection centers, located in India, the
Philippines and Latvia, are allocated to each segment based on their respective percentage of revenues as this reflects the benefits provided by each segment.
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The following tables reflect the results of operations of our segments:

(in thousands) Americas EMEA Asia Pacific Total

For the three months ended May 31, 2024
Revenues $ 356,468 $ 141,279 $ 54,961 § 552,708
Operating income $ 87,696 $ 75,463 $ 39,300 $ 202,459
Capital expenditures(” $ 19,491 $ 408 $ 1,440 $ 21,339

(in thousands) Americas EMEA Asia Pacific Total

For the three months ended May 31, 2023
Revenues $ 337,691 $ 137,973 § 54,147 $ 529,811
Operating income $ 79,005 $ 58,607 $ 34,347 $ 171,959
Capital expenditures(” $ 24,956 $ 339 $ 710 $ 26,005

(in thousands)

For the nine months ended May 31, 2024 Americas EMEA Asia Pacific Total
Revenues $ 1,057,453 $ 420,016 $ 163,400 $ 1,640,869
Operating income $ 250,255 $ 207,167 $ 116,019 $ 573,441
Capital expenditures'” $ 54,284 $ 1,664 $ 3,774 $ 59,722

(in thousands)

For the nine months ended May 31, 2023 Americas EMEA Asia Pacific Total
Revenues $ 992,179 $ 401,219 $ 156,313 $ 1,549,711
Operating income $ 207,717 $ 194,870 $ 110,517 $ 513,104
Capital expenditures'” $ 56,299 $ 1,651 $ 3471 $ 61,421

(1) Capital expenditures includes purchases of property, equipment and leasehold improvements and capitalized internal-use software.

Segment Total Assets

The following table reflects the total assets for our segments as of:

(in thousands) May 31, 2024 August 31, 2023

Segment Assets

Americas $ 3,137,992 § 3,148,192

EMEA 635,175 558,393

Asia Pacific 266,534 256,337

Total assets $ 4,039,701 $ 3,962,922
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ("MD&A") should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements
and related Notes included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023, our Current Reports on Form 8-K and
our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ
materially from those discussed below. Factors that could cause such differences include, but are not limited to, those identified below and those discussed in Part I, Item 1A. Risk
Factors in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023.

Our MD&A is designed to provide a reader of our financial statements with a narrative from the perspective of our management on our financial condition, results of operations,
liquidity and certain other factors that may affect our future results. Our MD&A is presented in the following sections:

*  Executive Overview

*  Annual Subscription Value ("ASV")
*  Client and User Additions

*  Employee Headcount

»  Results of Operations

*  Non-GAAP Financial Measures

* Liquidity and Capital Resources

«  Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
*  Foreign Currency Exposure

e Critical Accounting Estimates

¢ New Accounting Pronouncements

Executive Overview

non "o

FactSet Research Systems Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (collectively, "we," "our," "us," the "Company" or "FactSet") is a global financial digital platform and enterprise
solutions provider with open and flexible technologies that drive the investment community to see more, think bigger and do its best work.

Our platform delivers expansive data, sophisticated analytics, and flexible technology used by global financial professionals to power their critical investment workflows. As of
May 31, 2024, we had more than 8,000 clients comprised of over 208,000 investment professionals, including institutional asset managers, bankers, wealth managers, asset owners,
partners, hedge funds, corporate users, and private equity and venture capital professionals. Our revenues are primarily derived from subscriptions to our multi-asset class data and
solutions powered by our connected content, referred to as our "content refinery." Our products and services include workstations, portfolio analytics and enterprise solutions.

We drive our business based on our detailed understanding of our clients' workflows, which helps us to solve their most complex challenges. We provide financial data and market
intelligence on securities, companies, industries and people to enable our clients to research investment ideas, as well as to analyze, monitor and manage their portfolios. Our on- and
off-platform solutions span the investment life cycle of investment research, portfolio construction and analysis, trade execution, performance measurement, risk management and
reporting. We provide open and flexible technology offerings, including a configurable desktop and mobile platform, comprehensive data feeds, cloud-based digital solutions and
application programming interfaces ("APIs"). The CUSIP Global Services ("CGS") business supports security master files relied on by the investment industry for critical front, middle
and back-office functions. These platforms and solutions are supported by our dedicated client service team.

We operate our business through three reportable segments ("segments"): the Americas, EMEA and Asia Pacific. During fiscal 2024, we revised our internal organization within each
segment to offer data, products and analytical applications by firm type:

»  "Institutional Buyside" focuses on asset managers, asset owners, and hedge fund companies,

*  "Dealmakers" focuses on banking and sell-side research, corporate, and private equity and venture capital workflows,

e "Wealth" focuses on wealth management workflows, and

e "Partnerships and CGS": "Partnerships" delivers solutions to content providers, financial exchanges, and rating agencies. "CGS" is the exclusive issuer of Committee on
Uniform Security Identification Procedures ("CUSIP") and CUSIP International Number System ("CINS") identifiers.
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As our chief operating decision maker ("CODM") continues to review our business and operating results based on our three segments, the Americas, EMEA and Asia Pacific, the
realignment of our internal organization by firm type will not impact our segments for fiscal 2024. Refer to Note 15, Segment Information, in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Part I, Item 1. of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for more information on our segments and CODM.

Business Strategy

Our strategy is to build the leading open content and analytics platform and powerful enterprise solutions that deliver a differentiated advantage for our clients’ success. By offering
personalized digital products, we strive to be a trusted partner and service provider, delivering relevant insights and research ideas tailored to our clients' specific business models.

We are focused on growing our global business through three strategically aligned geographic segments: the Americas, EMEA and Asia Pacific. This approach allows us to better
manage resources, target solutions and interact with clients effectively. To execute our strategy, we have outlined the following key initiatives:

* Expanding our Digital Platform: We are scaling up our content refinery to provide a comprehensive inventory of industry, proprietary and third-party data. This includes
granular data for key industry verticals, real-time data, fund data and sustainable finance. Through an open ecosystem of cloud-based data and analytics, we aim to offer
flexible solutions and content accessible through various delivery methods. In addition, we are working to expand our use of artificial intelligence to drive efficiencies for our
clients, with anticipated initiatives including automation of tasks and integration of natural language queries. We believe that our breadth of high-quality, connected content
will be a critical raw material for large language models.

*  Ensuring Execution Excellence: Innovation and collaboration are at the core of our approach. We employ technology to accelerate content collection, data connectivity and
the development of summaries and themes. Our sales force is committed to enhancing price realization, productivity, efficiency and improved client outcomes. We are also
optimizing operations and managing expenses to improve returns on our investments.

»  Fostering a Growth Mindset: We prioritize recruiting, training and empowering a diverse and efficient workforce. We are driving sustainable growth by investing in talent
that can create leading technological solutions and efficiently execute our strategy. Additionally, strategic partnerships and acquisitions help to accelerate our expansion in key
areas.

Fiscal 2024 Third Quarter in Review

Revenues in the third quarter of fiscal 2024 were $552.7 million, an increase of 4.3% from the comparable prior year period. The growth in revenues was reflective of organic revenues
growth of 4.5% for the third quarter of fiscal 2024 compared with the prior year period. Revenues increased in all our segments, primarily in the Americas and, to a lesser extent,
EMEA and Asia Pacific. Revenues increased due to higher demand and price increases primarily from workstations, data solutions and middle office solutions. Refer to Part I, Item 2.
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, Non-GAAP Financial Measures, of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for a definition of
organic revenues and a reconciliation between revenues and organic revenues.

As of May 31, 2024, organic annual subscription value ("Organic ASV") plus Professional Services totaled $2,220.4 million, an increase of 5.0% over the prior year. Organic ASV
increased in all our segments, with the majority of the increase in the Americas and, to a lesser extent, EMEA and Asia Pacific. The Organic ASV increase was driven by higher
demand and price increases primarily from workstations, data solutions, middle office solutions and CGS subscriptions. Refer to Part I, Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, Annual Subscription Value, of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the definitions of Organic ASV and Organic ASV plus
Professional Services.

Operating margin increased to 36.6% during the three months ended May 31, 2024, compared with 32.5% in the prior year period. This increase was mainly due to growth in revenues
and, when expressed as a percentage of revenues, a decrease in compensation costs and bad debt expense, partially offset by an increase in amortization of intangible assets, marketing
costs and computer-related expenses. Diluted earnings per common share ("Diluted EPS") for the three months ended May 31, 2024 was $4.09, an increase of 18.2% compared with
the prior year period.
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Annual Subscription Value ("ASV")
We believe ASV reflects our ability to grow recurring revenues, generate positive cash flows and serves as a key indicator of the successful execution of our business strategy.

— "ASV" at any point in time represents our forward-looking revenues for the next 12 months from all subscription services currently being supplied to clients, excluding
revenues from Professional Services.

— "Organic ASV" at any point in time equals our ASV excluding ASV from acquisitions and dispositions completed within the last 12 months and the effects of foreign
currency movements.

—  "Professional Services" are revenues derived from project-based consulting and implementation services, annualized over the past 12 months.

—  "Organic ASV plus Professional Services" at any point in time equals the sum of Organic ASV and Professional Services.

Organic ASV plus Professional Services

The following table presents the calculation of Organic ASV plus Professional Services as of May 31, 2024. With proper notice provided as contractually required, our clients can add
to, delete portions of, or terminate service, subject to certain limitations.

(dollar amounts in millions) As of May 31, 2024

As reported ASV plus Professional Services" $ 2,219.2
Currency impact® 1.2

Organic ASV plus Professional Services $ 2,220.4

Organic ASV plus Professional Services annual growth rate 5.0%

(1) Includes $17.2 million in Professional Services as of May 31, 2024.

(2) The impact from foreign currency movements.

As of May 31, 2024, Organic ASV plus Professional Services was $2,220.4 million, an increase of 5.0% compared with May 31, 2023. Organic ASV increased in all our segments,
with the majority of the increase related to the Americas, and, to a lesser extent, EMEA and Asia Pacific. This increase in Organic ASV was primarily driven by higher sales to existing
clients and, to a lesser extent, price increases to existing clients and sales to new clients, partially offset by existing client cancellations. These higher sales and price increases were
primarily attributable to workstations, data solutions, middle office solutions and CGS subscriptions.

Segment ASV

As of May 31, 2024, ASV from the Americas represented 64% of total ASV and was $1,417.1 million, an increase from $1,344.7 million as of May 31, 2023. Americas Organic ASV
was $1,417.1 million as of May 31, 2024, a 5.7% increase from the prior year period. The Organic ASV increase in the Americas was driven by higher demand and price increases
primarily from workstations and CGS subscriptions.

As of May 31, 2024, ASV from EMEA represented 26% of total ASV and was $565.7 million, an increase from $541.3 million as of May 31, 2023. EMEA Organic ASV was $565.5
million as of May 31, 2024, a 4.4% increase from the prior year period. The EMEA Organic ASV increase was driven by higher demand and price increases mainly from data solutions
and middle office solutions.

As of May 31, 2024, ASV from Asia Pacific represented 10% of total ASV and was $219.2 million, an increase from $209.8 million as of May 31, 2023. Asia Pacific Organic ASV
was $220.6 million as of May 31, 2024, a 6.1% increase from the prior year period. The Asia Pacific Organic ASV increase was driven by higher demand and price increases primarily
from middle office solutions and data solutions.

Buy-side and Sell-side Organic ASV Growth

The buy-side and sell-side Organic ASV annual growth rates as of May 31, 2024 were 5.3% and 3.7%, respectively. Buy-side clients account for approximately 82% of our Organic
ASYV, consistent with the prior year period, and primarily include institutional asset managers, wealth managers, asset owners, partners, hedge funds and corporate clients. The
remainder of our Organic ASV is derived from sell-side firms and primarily include broker-dealers, banking and advisory, and private equity and venture capital firms.
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Client and User Additions

The table below presents our total clients and users:

As of May 31, 2024 As of May 31, 2023 Change
Clients® 8,029 7,770 33%
Users 208,140 187,845 10.8 %

(1) The client count includes clients with ASV of $10,000 and above.

Our total client count was 8,029 as of May 31, 2024, a net increase of 3.3% or 259 clients in the last 12 months, mainly due to an increase in corporate clients and, to a lesser extent,
wealth management clients.

As of May 31, 2024, there were 208,140 professionals using FactSet, representing a net increase of 10.8% or 20,295 users in the last 12 months, primarily driven by an increase in
wealth users.

Annual ASV retention was greater than 95% of ASV for the period ended May 31, 2024 and May 31, 2023. When expressed as a percentage of clients, annual retention was
approximately 90% for the period ended May 31, 2024, compared with approximately 92% for the period ended May 31, 2023.

Employee Headcount

As of May 31, 2024, our net employee headcount increased by 1.6% to 12,262, compared with 12,072 employees as of May 31, 2023. This net headcount growth was primarily due to
our continued investment in our centers of excellence ("COEs"), particularly through expanding our talent pool in our India and Philippines locations. Our COEs account for
approximately 68% of our employees.

As of May 31, 2024 compared to May 31, 2023, our net headcount growth in Asia Pacific was 5.4%, while the Americas and EMEA experienced a net headcount decrease of 7.9% and
3.3%, respectively. As of May 31, 2024, we had 8,521 employees located in Asia Pacific, 2,343 in the Americas and 1,398 in EMEA.

Results of Operations

For an understanding of the significant factors that influenced our performance for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2024 and May 31, 2023, the following discussion should
be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes presented in Part I, Item 1. in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

The following table summarizes the results of operations for the periods described:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
May 31, May 31,

(in thousands, except per share data) 2024 2023 % Change 2024 2023 % Change
Revenues $ 552,708 $ 529,811 43%$ 1,640,869 $ 1,549,711 59 %
Cost of services 246,986 241,689 22 % 753,749 709,537 6.2 %
Selling, general and administrative 103,098 115,725 (10.9)% 312,616 325,903 “4.1)%
Asset impairments 165 438 (62.3)% 1,063 1,167 (8.9)%
Operating income $ 202,459 $ 171,959 17.7%$ 573,441 $ 513,104 11.8 %
Net income $ 158,135 $ 134,663 174 %$ 447,630 $ 403,054 11.1 %
Diluted weighted average common shares 38,640 38,912 38,644 38,936

Diluted EPS $ 4.09 § 3.46 182%3$ 11.58 $ 10.35 11.9 %

36



Table of Contents

Revenues
Three months ended May 31, 2024 compared with three months ended May 31, 2023

Revenues for the three months ended May 31, 2024 were $552.7 million, an increase of 4.3%. This growth in revenues of 4.3% was reflective of a 4.5% increase in organic revenues,
partially offset by a 0.2% decrease from foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. Organic revenues increased to $553.4 million for the three months ended May 31, 2024. Revenues
increased in all our segments, primarily in the Americas and, to a lesser extent, EMEA and Asia Pacific.

The increase in revenues was driven by increased sales to existing clients and, to a lesser extent, price increases to existing clients and sales to new clients, partially offset by existing
client cancellations. Revenues increased due to higher demand and price increases primarily from workstations, data solutions and middle office solutions.

Nine months ended May 31, 2024 compared with nine months ended May 31, 2023
Revenues for the nine months ended May 31, 2024 were $1,640.9 million, an increase of 5.9%. This growth in revenues was reflective of organic revenues growth of 5.9%, with
organic revenues increasing to $1,641.0 for the nine months ended May 31, 2024. Revenues increased in all our geographic segments, primarily in the Americas and, to a lesser extent,

EMEA and Asia Pacific.

The increase in revenues was mainly due to increased sales to existing clients and, to a lesser extent, price increases to existing clients and sales to new clients, partially offset by
existing client cancellations. Revenues increased due to higher demand and price increases primarily from workstations, data solutions and middle office solutions.

Revenues by Segment

The following table summarizes our revenues by segment:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
May 31, May 31,
(dollar amounts in thousands) 2024 2023 % Change 2024 2023 % Change
Americas $ 356,468 $ 337,691 5.6%$ 1,057,453 $ 992,179 6.6 %
% of revenues 64.5 % 63.8 % 64.4 % 64.0 %
EMEA $ 141,279  $ 137,973 24%$ 420,016 $ 401,219 4.7 %
% of revenues 25.6 % 26.0 % 25.6 % 259 %
Asia Pacific $ 54,961 § 54,147 1.5%$ 163,400 § 156,313 45 %
% of revenues 9.9 % 10.2 % 10.0 % 10.1 %
Consolidated $ 552,708 $ 529,811 43%$ 1,640,869 § 1,549,711 59 %

Three months ended May 31, 2024 compared with three months ended May 31, 2023
Americas

Americas revenues increased 5.6% to $356.5 million during the three months ended May 31, 2024, compared with $337.7 million from the same period a year ago. This growth in
revenues was primarily reflective of organic revenues growth of 5.5%. The increase in revenues was driven by higher demand and price increases primarily from workstations and
CGS subscriptions.

EMEA

EMEA revenues increased 2.4% to $141.2 million during the three months ended May 31, 2024, compared with $138.0 million from the same period a year ago. This growth in
revenues was reflective of organic revenues growth of a 2.4%. The increase in revenues was driven by higher demand and price increases primarily from data solutions and middle
office solutions.

Asia Pacific

Asia Pacific revenues increased 1.5% to $55.0 million during the three months ended May 31, 2024, compared with $54.1 million from the same period a year ago. This growth in
revenues of 1.5% was reflective of a 3.0% increase in organic
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revenues, partially offset by a 1.5% decrease from foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. The increase in revenues was driven by higher demand and price increases primarily
from data solutions, workstations and middle office solutions.

Nine months ended May 31, 2024 compared with nine months ended May 31, 2023

Americas

Revenues from the Americas increased 6.6% to $1,057.5 million during the nine months ended May 31, 2024, compared with $992.2 million from the same period a year ago. This
growth in revenues was primarily driven by organic revenues growth of 6.5%. The increase in revenues was driven by higher demand and price increases primarily from workstations
and, to a lesser extent, CGS subscriptions, data solutions and middle office solutions.

EMEA

Revenues from EMEA increased 4.7% to $420.0 million during the nine months ended May 31, 2024, compared with $401.2 million from the same period a year ago. This growth in
revenues of 4.7% was reflective of a 4.4% increase in organic revenues and a 0.3% benefit from foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. The increase in revenues was driven by
higher demand and price increases primarily from data solutions and middle office solutions.

Asia Pacific

Revenues from Asia Pacific increased 4.5% to $163.4 million during the nine months ended May 31, 2024, compared with $156.3 million from the same period a year ago. This
growth in revenues of 4.5% was reflective of a 5.6% increase in organic revenues, partially offset by a 1.1% decrease from foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. The increase in
revenues was driven by higher demand and price increases primarily from workstations and data solutions.

Operating Expenses
Principal Operating Expenses

Cost of services is mainly comprised of employee compensation costs and also includes expenses related to data costs, computer-related expenses, amortization of intangible assets,
royalty fees, client-related communication costs and computer depreciation.

Selling, general and administrative ("SG&A") consists primarily of employee compensation costs and also includes expenses related to occupancy costs, professional fees,
depreciation of furniture and fixtures, amortization of leasehold improvements, travel and entertainment expenses, marketing costs, other employee-related expenses, internal
communication costs and bad debt expense.

Employee compensation costs are a major component of both our Cost of services and SG&A. These expenses primarily include costs related to salaries, incentive compensation and
sales commissions, stock-based compensation, benefits, employment taxes, and any applicable restructuring costs.

We assign employee compensation costs between Cost of services and SG&A based on the roles and activities associated with each employee. We categorize employees within the
content collection, consulting, product development, software and systems engineering groups as Cost of services personnel. Employees included in our sales department and those that

serve in various other support departments, including marketing, finance, legal, human resources and administrative services, are classified as SG&A.

Asset impairments consist primarily of expenses recognized when the carrying value of an asset exceeds its fair value.

38



Table of Contents

The following table summarizes the components of our total operating expenses and operating margin:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
May 31, May 31,
(dollar amounts in thousands) 2024 2023 % Change 2024 2023 % Change
Cost of services $ 246,986 $ 241,689 22%$ 753,749  $ 709,537 6.2 %
SG&A 103,098 115,725 (10.9)% 312,616 325,903 “4.1)%
Asset impairments 165 438 (62.3)% 1,063 1,167 (8.9)%
Total operating expenses $ 350,249 § 357,852 2.D)%$ 1,067,428 $ 1,036,607 3.0 %
Operating income $ 202,459 $ 171,959 177 %$ 573,441 $ 513,104 11.8 %
Operating margin 36.6 % 325 % 349 % 33.1%

Cost of Services
Three months ended May 31, 2024 compared with three months ended May 31, 2023

Cost of services increased 2.2% to $247.0 million for the three months ended May 31, 2024, compared with $241.7 million for the same period a year ago, primarily due to an increase
in amortization of intangible assets and computer-related expenses, partially offset by a decrease in employee compensation costs.

Cost of services, when expressed as a percentage of revenues, was 44.7% for the three months ended May 31, 2024, a decrease of 90 basis points compared with the same period a year
ago. This decrease was primarily due to lower employee compensation costs, partially offset by an increase in amortization of intangible assets and computer-related expenses.

When expressed as a percentage of revenues:

*  Employee compensation costs decreased by 250 basis points primarily driven by a one-time payroll tax adjustment and a decrease in salaries. The decrease in salaries was
primarily driven by higher capitalization of costs related to development of internal-use software.

*  Amortization of intangible assets increased 80 basis points mainly due to higher amortization from capitalized costs related to the development of our internal-use software.

*  Computer-related expenses increased 60 basis points primarily due to higher spending related to cloud-based hosting services and licensed software arrangements.
Nine months ended May 31, 2024 compared with nine months ended May 31, 2023

Cost of services increased 6.2% to $753.7 million for the nine months ended May 31, 2024, compared with $709.5 million in the same period a year ago, primarily due to an increase
in employee compensation costs, amortization of intangible assets and computer-related expenses.

Cost of services, when expressed as a percentage of revenues, was 45.9% for the nine months ended May 31, 2024, an increase of 20 basis points compared with the same period a year
ago. This increase was primarily driven by higher amortization of intangible assets and increases in the other expenses included in Costs of services outpacing the increase in revenues,
partially offset by a decrease in employee compensation costs when expressed as a percentage of revenues.

When expressed as a percentage of revenues:

*  Amortization of intangible assets increased 40 basis points mainly due to higher amortization from capitalized costs related to the development of our internal-use software.

* Employee compensation costs decreased 60 basis points primarily due to revenues outpacing the increase in employee compensation costs and a decrease in variable
compensation costs, partially offset by higher annual base salaries, net of capitalization of compensation costs related to the development of our internal-use software, and an
increase in restructuring charges. The increase in annual base salaries was primarily driven by annual merit increases and a net headcount increase in Cost of services of 257,
primarily located in our COEs.
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Selling, General and Administrative
Three months ended May 31, 2024 compared with three months ended May 31, 2023

SG&A decreased 10.9% to $103.1 million for the three months ended May 31, 2024, compared with $115.7 million from the same period a year ago, primarily driven by lower
employee compensation costs.

SG&A, when expressed as a percentage of revenues, was 18.7% for the three months ended May 31, 2024, a decrease of 320 basis points compared with the same period a year ago.
This decrease was primarily driven by lower employee compensation costs, bad debt expense and occupancy costs, partially offset by an increase in marketing expense.

When expressed as a percentage of revenues:

*  Employee compensation costs decreased by 290 basis points primarily due to a decrease in variable compensation and payroll taxes.

»  Bad debt expense decreased by 60 basis points as the prior year included a higher expense from our estimated collectibility of outstanding receivables.
*  Occupancy costs decreased 50 basis points primarily due to exiting certain leased spaces in the prior year.

*  Marketing expense increased by 60 basis points primarily related to costs associated with a client symposium.

Nine months ended May 31, 2024 compared with nine months ended May 31, 2023

SG&A expenses decreased 4.1% to $312.6 million for the nine months ended May 31, 2024, compared with $325.9 million for the same period a year ago, primarily driven by lower
employee compensation costs.

SG&A expenses, when expressed as a percentage of revenues, were 19.1% for the nine months ended May 31, 2024, a decrease of 200 basis points compared with the same period a
year ago. This decrease was primarily due to lower employee compensation costs mainly driven by a reduction in variable compensation expense.

Operating Income and Operating Margin
Three months ended May 31, 2024 compared with three months ended May 31, 2023

Operating income increased 17.7% to $202.5 million for the three months ended May 31, 2024, compared with $172.0 million in the prior year period. This increase was primarily
driven by growth in revenues and a decrease in employee compensation costs, partially offset by an increase in amortization of intangible assets and computer-related expenses.
Foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, net of hedge activity, decreased operating income by $1.1 million for the three months ended May 31, 2024 compared with the three
months ended May 31, 2023.

Operating margin increased to 36.6% during the three months ended May 31, 2024, compared with 32.5% in the prior year period. This increase was mainly due to growth in revenues
and, when expressed as a percentage of revenues, a decrease in employee compensation costs and bad debt expense, partially offset by higher amortization of intangible assets,
marketing costs and computer-related expenses.

Nine months ended May 31, 2024 compared with nine months ended May 31, 2023

Operating income increased 11.8% to $573.4 million for the nine months ended May 31, 2024, compared with $513.1 million in the prior year period. This increase was primarily due
to growth in revenues, partially offset by higher amortization of intangible assets, computer-related expenses and employee compensation costs. Foreign currency exchange rate
fluctuations, net of hedge activity, decreased operating income by $1.5 million for the nine months ended May 31, 2024 compared with the nine months ended May 31, 2023.

Operating margin increased to 34.9% for the nine months ended May 31, 2024, compared with 33.1% in the prior year period. This increase was primarily due to growth in revenues
and, when expressed as a percentage of revenue, a decrease in employee compensation costs, partially offset by higher amortization of intangible assets.
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Operating Income by Segment

We operate our business through three segments: the Americas; EMEA; and Asia Pacific. Refer to Note 15, Segment Information in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
included in Part I, Item 1. of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for further discussion regarding our segments. The following table summarizes our operating income by segment:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
May 31, May 31,
(dollar amounts in thousands) 2024 2023 % Change 2024 2023 % Change
Americas $ 87,696 $ 79,005 11.0%$ 250,255 $ 207,717 20.5 %
EMEA 75,463 58,607 28.8 % 207,167 194,870 6.3 %
Asia Pacific 39,300 34,347 14.4 % 116,019 110,517 5.0 %
Total Operating Income $ 202,459 $ 171,959 17.7%$ 573,441 $ 513,104 11.8 %

Three months ended May 31, 2024 compared with three months ended May 31, 2023
Americas

Americas operating income increased 11.0% to $87.7 million during the three months ended May 31, 2024, compared with $79.0 million in the same period a year ago. This increase
was primarily due to growth in revenues of 5.6% and a decrease in employee compensation costs, partially offset by higher amortization of intangible assets and computer-related
expenses.

*  Employee compensation costs decreased primarily due to a one-time payroll tax adjustment and a decrease in salaries. The decrease in salaries was mainly driven by a net
headcount reduction of 200 employees and higher capitalization of compensation costs related to the development of our internal-use software, partially offset by annual merit
increases.

e Amortization of intangible assets increased mainly due to higher amortization from capitalized costs related to the development of our internal-use software.

e Computer-related expenses increased primarily due to higher spending related to cloud-based hosting services and licensed software arrangements.

EMEA

EMEA operating income increased 28.8% to $75.5 million during the three months ended May 31, 2024, compared with $58.6 million in the same period a year ago. This increase was
primarily due to growth in revenues of 2.4% and lower employee compensation costs. Employee compensation costs decreased mainly due to lower variable compensation and a
decrease in restructuring charges due to the release of certain accruals during the three months ended May 31, 2024.

Asia Pacific

Asia Pacific operating income increased 14.4% to $39.3 million during the three months ended May 31, 2024, compared with $34.3 million in the same period a year ago. This
increase was mainly due to growth in revenues of 1.5% and the reduction of certain operating expenses, partially offset by higher employee compensation costs. Employee
compensation costs increased primarily due to higher annual base salaries driven by annual merit increases and a net headcount increase of 438 employees.

Nine months ended May 31, 2024 compared with nine months ended May 31, 2023
Americas

Americas operating income increased 20.5% to $250.3 million during the nine months ended May 31, 2024, compared with $207.7 million in the same period a year ago. This increase
was primarily due to growth in revenues of 6.6% and lower employee compensation costs, partially offset by higher amortization of intangible assets and computer-related expenses.

*  Employee compensation costs decreased primarily due to lower variable compensation and, to a lesser extent, a decrease due to lower salaries and a one-time payroll tax
adjustment, partially offset by an increase in restructuring charges. The decrease in salaries was primarily driven by higher capitalization of compensation costs related to the
development of our internal-use software.

*  Amortization of intangible assets increased mainly due to higher amortization from capitalized costs related to the development of our internal-use software.
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e Computer-related expenses increased primarily due to higher spending related to cloud-based hosting services and licensed software arrangements.
EMEA

EMEA operating income increased 6.3% to $207.1 million during the nine months ended May 31, 2024, compared with $194.9 million in the same period a year ago. This increase
was primarily due to growth in revenues of 4.7%, partially offset by higher employee compensation costs. Employee compensation costs increased primarily due to higher annual base
salaries driven by annual merit increases, partially offset by a net headcount decrease of 48 employees.

Asia Pacific

Asia Pacific operating income increased 5.0% to $116.0 million during the nine months ended May 31, 2024, compared with $110.5 million in the same period a year ago. This
increase was mainly due to growth in revenues of 4.5% and reduction of certain operating expenses, partially offset by higher employee compensation costs. Employee compensation
costs increased primarily due to higher annual base salaries driven by annual merit increases and a net headcount increase of 438 employees.

Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes and the effective tax rate are as follows:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
May 31, May 31,
(dollar amounts in thousands) 2024 2023 % Change 2024 2023 % Change
Income before income taxes $ 190,532  $ 161,998 17.6 % $ 534373  $ 476,645 12.1 %
Provision for income taxes $ 32,397 % 27,335 185%$ 86,743 $ 73,591 17.9 %
Effective tax rate 17.0 % 16.9 % 16.2 % 15.4 %

We are subject to taxation in the United States and various foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct our business.

Our provision for income taxes for interim periods is calculated by applying an estimate of our annual effective tax rate to our quarter and year-to-date results, adjusted for discrete
items recorded in the period. The computation of the annual estimated effective tax rate at each interim period requires certain estimates and assumptions including, but not limited to,
the expected pretax income (or loss) for the year, projections of the proportion of income (or loss) earned and taxed in foreign jurisdictions, permanent and temporary differences and
the likelihood of recovering deferred tax assets, then adjusted for any discrete items. On a quarterly basis, we update the estimate of our annual effective tax rate as new events occur,
assumptions change, or additional information is obtained.

Our effective tax rate of 17.0% for the three months ended May 31, 2024 was relatively flat compared with 16.9% for the three months ended May 31, 2023. This was primarily due to
higher pretax income, which reduced the effective tax rate impact of certain tax benefits, offset by increased utilization of foreign tax credits and excess tax benefits from stock-based
compensation.

Our effective tax rate for the nine months ended May 31, 2024 was 16.2%, compared with 15.4% for the nine months ended May 31, 2023. This increase was primarily due to higher
pretax income, which reduced the effective tax rate impact of certain tax benefits, partially offset by increased utilization of foreign tax credits.
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Net Income and Diluted EPS

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
May 31, May 31,
(in thousands, except per share data) 2024 2023 % Change 2024 2023 % Change
Net income $ 158,135 § 134,663 174 %$ 447,630 $ 403,054 11.1 %
Diluted weighted average common shares 38,640 38,912 (0.7% 38,644 38,936 0.7%
Diluted EPS $ 4.09 $ 3.46 182%3$ 11.58 $ 10.35 11.9 %

The increase in Net income and Diluted EPS for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2024, compared to the respective prior year period, was primarily driven by higher operating
income, partially offset by an increase in the provision for income taxes.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

To supplement the financial measures prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States ("GAAP"), we use non-GAAP financial measures
including organic revenues, adjusted operating income, adjusted operating margin, adjusted net income, EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA and adjusted Diluted EPS. The reconciliations
from our financial measures calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP to these non-GAAP financial measures are shown in the tables below. These non-GAAP financial
measures should not be considered in isolation from, as a substitute for, or superior to, financial measures reported in accordance with GAAP. Moreover, these non-GAAP financial
measures have limitations in that they do not reflect all the items associated with the operations of our business as determined in accordance with GAAP. Other companies may
calculate similarly titled non-GAAP financial measures differently than we do, limiting the usefulness of those measures for comparative purposes.

Despite the limitations of these non-GAAP financial measures, we believe these adjusted financial measures and the information they provide are useful in viewing our performance
using the same tools that management uses to gauge progress in achieving our goals. Adjusted measures may also facilitate comparisons to our historical performance.

Organic revenues exclude the current year impact of revenues from acquisitions and dispositions completed within the past 12 months ("Acquisition revenues" and "Disposition
revenues", respectively) and the current year impact from changes in foreign currency. For year to date comparisons, organic revenues exclude current year revenues that were incurred
prior to the first anniversary date of an acquisition. The table below provides an unaudited reconciliation of revenues to organic revenues:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
May 31, May 31,
(dollar amounts in thousands) 2024 2023 % Change 2024 2023 % Change
Revenues 552,708 § 529,811 43%$ 1,640,869 $ 1,549,711 59 %
Acquisition revenues (119) — (430) —
Currency impact 843 — 516 —
Organic revenues 553,432 § 529,811 45%$ 1,640,955 $ 1,549,711 59 %
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The table below provides an unaudited reconciliation of Operating income, operating margin, Net income and Diluted EPS to adjusted operating income, adjusted operating margin,
adjusted net income, EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA and adjusted Diluted EPS. Adjusted operating income and margin, adjusted net income, and adjusted Diluted EPS exclude the impact
of acquisition-related intangible asset amortization and non-recurring items. EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA represent earnings before interest expense, provision for income taxes and
depreciation and amortization, while adjusted EBITDA further excludes non-recurring non-cash expenses.

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
May 31, May 31,
(in thousands, except per share data) 2024 2023 % Change 2024 2023 % Change
Operating income $ 202,459 $ 171,959 17.7% $ 573,441 $ 513,104 11.8%
Intangible asset amortization 16,674 17,655 50,692 53,372
Business acquisition / integration costs"” 423 — 423 6,828
Restructuring / severance (1,596) 1,318 6,695 1,751

Adjusted operating income $ 217,960 $ 190,932 142% $ 631,251 $ 575,055 9.8%

Operating margin 36.6% 32.5% 34.9% 33.1%

Adjusted operating margin® 39.4% 36.0% 38.5% 37.1%

Net income $ 158,135 § 134,663 174 %$ 447,630 $ 403,054 11.1 %
Intangible asset amortization 11,466 14,406 36,791 44,729
Business acquisition / integration costs(" 291 — 307 5,723
Restructuring / severance (1,096) 1,075 4,859 1,468
Income tax items — (2,477) 1,397 (4,029)

Adjusted net income® $ 168,796 $ 147,667 143 %3$ 490,984 $ 450,945 8.9 %
Net income $ 158,135 § 134,663 174%$ 447,630 $ 403,054 11.1 %
Interest expense 16,894 16,354 50,231 49,628
Income taxes 32,397 27,335 86,743 73,591
Depreciation and amortization expense 32,504 26,473 91,154 78,681
EBITDA $ 239,930 $ 204,825 171 %38 675,758 $ 604,954 11.7 %
Non-recurring non-cash expenses® — 459 1,285 459
Adjusted EBITDA $ 239,930 $ 205,284 16.9 % $ 677,043 $ 605,413 11.8 %
Diluted EPS $ 4.09 $ 3.46 182%$ 11.58 $ 10.35 11.9 %
Intangible asset amortization 0.30 0.36 0.94 1.14
Business acquisition / integration costs(" 0.01 — 0.01 0.15
Restructuring / severance (0.03) 0.03 0.14 0.04
Income tax items — (0.06) 0.04 (0.10)

Adjusted Diluted EPS® $ 437 $ 3.79 153 %38 12.71 § 11.58 9.8 %
Weighted average common shares (Diluted) 38,640 38,912 38,644 38,936

(1) Related to certain business acquisition costs for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2024 and integration costs from the CGS acquisition for the nine months ended May 31, 2023.
(2) Adjusted operating margin is calculated as adjusted operating income divided by Revenues.

(3) For purposes of calculating adjusted net income and adjusted Diluted EPS, the three months ended May 31, 2024 and May 31, 2023 were taxed at an adjusted tax rate of 31.2% and 18.4%,
respectively. The nine months ended May 31, 2024 and May 31, 2023 were taxed at an adjusted tax rate of 27.4% and 16.2%, respectively.

(4) Related to the accelerated vesting of stock awards for certain employees during the nine months ended May 31, 2024.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of May 31, 2024, Cash and cash equivalents were $453.1 million, compared with $425.4 million as of August 31, 2023. Our cash and cash equivalents are held in numerous

locations throughout the world, with $188.5 million in EMEA (predominantly in the UK and Germany), $173.9 million in the Americas and the remaining $90.7 million in Asia Pacific
(predominantly in the
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Philippines and India) as of May 31, 2024. We permanently reinvest all foreign unremitted earnings, except in jurisdictions where earnings can be repatriated substantially free of tax.

Our cash flows provided by operating activities, existing cash and cash equivalents, supplemented with our debt borrowings, have been sufficient to fund our operations while allowing
us to invest in activities that support the long-term growth of our operations. Generally, some or all of our remaining available cash flows have been used to, among other things,
service our existing and future debt obligations, satisfy our working capital requirements and fund various activities, including our capital expenditures, acquisitions, investments,
dividend payments and repurchases of our common stock. Based on past performance and current expectations, we believe our sources of liquidity, including the available capacity
under our existing revolving credit facility and other financing alternatives, will provide us the necessary capital to fund these transactions and achieve our planned growth for the next
12 months and the foreseeable future. We are exposed to credit risk for our cash and cash equivalents held in financial institutions in the event of a default, to the extent that such
amounts are in excess of applicable insurance limits; however, we do not believe our concentration of cash and cash equivalents presents a significant credit risk as the counterparties
to the instruments consist of multiple high-quality, credit-worthy financial institutions.

Sources of Liquidity
Debt and Swap Agreements
2022 Credit Agreement

On March 1, 2022, we entered into a credit agreement (the "2022 Credit Agreement") and borrowed an aggregate principal amount of $1.0 billion under its senior unsecured term loan
credit facility (the "2022 Term Facility") and $250.0 million of the available $500.0 million under its senior unsecured revolving credit facility (the "2022 Revolving Facility" and,
together with the 2022 Term Facility, the "2022 Credit Facilities"). The 2022 Term Facility matures on March 1, 2025, and the 2022 Revolving Facility matures on March 1, 2027. The
2022 Revolving Facility allows for the availability of up to $100.0 million in the form of letters of credit and up to $50.0 million in the form of swingline loans. We may seek
additional commitments under the 2022 Revolving Facility from lenders or other financial institutions up to an aggregate principal amount of $750.0 million.

We used these borrowings, along with the net proceeds from the issuance of the Senior Notes (as defined below) and cash on hand, to finance the consideration for the CGS
acquisition, to repay prior outstanding borrowings and to pay related transaction fees, costs and expenses. During fiscal 2022, we incurred approximately $9.5 million in debt issuance
costs related to the 2022 Credit Facilities.

We may voluntarily prepay loans under the 2022 Credit Facilities at any time without premium or penalty. During the three and nine months ended May 31, 2024, we repaid $62.5
million and $187.5 million, respectively, under the 2022 Term Facility, inclusive of voluntary prepayments of $50.0 million and $150.0 million, respectively. Since loan inception on
March 1, 2022, we have repaid $812.5 million under the 2022 Term Facility, inclusive of voluntary prepayments of $712.5 million. As of May 31, 2024, we had short-term liquidity
requirements of $187.5 million related to the outstanding balance of the 2022 Term Facility which becomes due March 1, 2025.

From the borrowing date through November 30, 2023, the outstanding borrowings under the 2022 Credit Facilities bore interest at a rate equal to the applicable one-month Term
Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") plus a 1.1% spread (comprised of a 1.0% interest rate margin based on a debt leverage pricing grid plus a 0.1% credit spread adjustment).
From December 1, 2023 through May 31, 2024, the spread decreased to 0.975% (comprised of a 0.875% interest rate margin based on a debt leverage pricing grid plus a 0.1% credit
spread adjustment). Interest on the 2022 Credit Facilities is currently payable on the last business day of each month, in arrears.

Additionally, we pay a commitment fee on the daily unused amount of the 2022 Revolving Facility using a pricing grid based on our senior unsecured non-credit enhanced long-term
debt rating and our total leverage ratio. From the borrowing date through November 30, 2023, the commitment fee was 0.125%, which subsequently decreased to 0.1% through
May 31, 2024.

The 2022 Credit Agreement contains usual and customary event of default provisions for facilities of this type, which are subject to usual and customary grace periods and materiality
thresholds. If an event of default occurs under the 2022 Credit Agreement, the lenders may, among other things, terminate their commitments and declare all outstanding borrowings
immediately due and payable.

The 2022 Credit Agreement contains usual and customary affirmative and negative covenants for facilities of this type, including a financial covenant requiring maintenance of a total
leverage ratio of no greater than 3.75 to 1.00 as of May 31, 2024. We were in compliance with all covenants and requirements of the 2022 Credit Agreement as of May 31, 2024.
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Refer to Note 10, Debt in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1. of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for further discussion of the 2022
Credit Agreement.

2024 Swap Agreement

On March 1, 2024, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement ("2024 Swap Agreement") to hedge a portion of our outstanding floating SOFR debt with a fixed interest rate of
5.145%. Refer to Note 5, Derivative Instruments, in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1. of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for more
information on the 2024 Swap Agreement.

2022 Swap Agreement

On March 1, 2022, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement (the "2022 Swap Agreement") to hedge a portion of our outstanding floating SOFR debt with a fixed interest rate of
1.162%. The 2022 Swap Agreement matured on February 28, 2024. Refer to Note 5, Derivative Instruments, in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I,
Item 1. of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for more information on the 2022 Swap Agreement.

Senior Notes

On March 1, 2022 we completed a public offering of $500.0 million aggregate principal amount of 2.900% Senior Notes due March 1, 2027 (the "2027 Notes") and $500.0 million
aggregate principal amount of 3.450% Senior Notes due March 1, 2032 (the "2032 Notes" and, together with the 2027 Notes, the "Senior Notes"). The Senior Notes were issued
pursuant to an indenture, dated as of March 1, 2022, by and between us and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as trustee (the "Trustee"), as supplemented by the
supplemental indenture, dated as of March 1, 2022, between us and the Trustee (the "Supplemental Indenture").

The Senior Notes were issued at an aggregate discount of $2.8 million during fiscal 2022 and we incurred approximately $9.1 million in debt issuance costs. Interest on the Senior
Notes is payable semiannually in arrears on March 1 and September 1 of each year.

We may redeem the Senior Notes, in whole or in part, at any time at specified redemption prices, plus any accrued and unpaid interest. Upon the occurrence of a change of control
triggering event (as defined in the Supplemental Indenture), we must offer to repurchase the Senior Notes at 101% of their principal amount, plus any accrued and unpaid interest.

Uses of Liquidity
Returning Value to Stockholders

We returned $283.2 million and $168.5 million to our stockholders in the form of share repurchases and dividends during the nine months ended May 31, 2024 and May 31, 2023,
respectively. Over the last 12 months, we returned $430.1 million to our stockholders in the form of share repurchases and dividends.

Dividends

In the third quarter of fiscal 2024, our Board of Directors approved a 6% increase in the regular quarterly dividend from $0.98 to $1.04 per share. Fiscal 2024 marked the 25th
consecutive fiscal year we have increased dividends on a stock split-adjusted basis, highlighting our continued commitment to returning value to our stockholders. During the nine
months ended May 31, 2024 and May 31, 2023, we paid dividends of $111.3 million and $101.4 million, respectively. Future cash dividend payments are subject to final determination
by our Board of Directors and will depend on our earnings, capital requirements, financial condition and other relevant factors.

Share Repurchase Program

We may repurchase shares of our common stock under our share repurchase program from time-to-time in the open market or via privately negotiated transactions, subject to market
conditions. During the three and nine months ended May 31, 2024, we repurchased 135,150 shares for $59.8 million and 384,150 shares for $171.9 million, respectively. We suspended
our share repurchase program beginning in the second quarter of fiscal 2022, with the exception of potential minor repurchases to offset dilution from grants of equity awards or
repurchases to satisfy withholding tax obligations due upon the vesting of stock-based awards, to prioritize the repayment of debt under the 2022 Credit Facilities. We resumed our
share repurchase program in the third quarter of fiscal 2023. For the three and nine months ended May 31, 2023, we repurchased 165,950 shares for $67.1 million.
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There is no defined number of shares to be repurchased over a specified timeframe through the life of our share repurchase program. As of May 31, 2024, $128.1 million remained
authorized under our share repurchase program for future share repurchases. Refer to Part II, Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds, of this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for further discussion on our share repurchase program.

Contractual Obligations

Purchase obligations represent our legally-binding agreements to purchase fixed or minimum quantities at determinable prices. As of August 31, 2023, we had total purchase
obligations with suppliers of $362.2 million. Our total purchase obligations as of August 31, 2023 primarily related to hosting services, acquisition of data and, to a lesser extent, third-
party software providers. Hosting services support our hybrid cloud strategy, which relies in large part on third-party hosting providers. Data is an integral component of the value we
provide to our clients. Our commitments to third-party software providers mainly include internal-use software licenses. For the nine months ended May 31, 2024, there were no
material changes to our contractual obligations.

We also have contractual obligations related to our lease liabilities and outstanding debt. Refer to Note 9, Leases and Note 10, Debt in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Part I, Item 1. of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for information regarding lease commitments and outstanding debt obligations, respectively.

Summary of Cash Flows

The following table provides a summary of our net cash flow activity for the periods presented:

Nine Months Ended
May 31,
(dollar amounts in thousands) 2024 2023 $ Change
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 537,177 $ 489,903 $ 47,274
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (104,658) (72,310) (32,348)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (402,908) (437,357) 34,449
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (1,911) 3,118 (5,029)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 27,700 $ (16,646) $ 44,346

Operating

For the nine months ended May 31, 2024, net cash provided by operating activities was $537.2 million, which included net income of $447.6 million, non-cash charges of $154.8
million and a net cash outflow of $65.2 million to support our working capital requirements. The non-cash charges were primarily driven by depreciation and amortization and stock-
based compensation expense. The change in our working capital was primarily driven by cash outflows related to our annual variable compensation payment and lease payments.

For the nine months ended May 31, 2023, net cash provided by operating activities was $489.9 million, which included net income of $403.1 million, non-cash charges of $140.7
million and a net cash outflow of $53.9 million to support our working capital requirements. The non-cash charges were primarily driven by depreciation and amortization, stock-based
compensation expense and amortization of lease ROU assets. The change in our working capital was primarily driven by a cash outflow related to our variable compensation payment
earned in the prior year, higher accounts receivable due to increased sales and an increase in days sales outstanding, and cash outflows for lease payments.

Investing

For the nine months ended May 31, 2024, net cash used in investing activities was $104.7 million. The cash used in investing activities was primarily related to capital expenditures of
$59.7 million mainly driven by the capitalization of internal-use software development costs and $44.9 million in investments, primarily related to the purchase of mutual funds.

For the nine months ended May 31, 2023, net cash used in investing activities was $72.3 million. The cash used in investing activities was primarily related to capital expenditures of
$61.4 million mainly due to the capitalization of internal-use software development costs and investments in network-related equipment and laptops.
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Financing

For the nine months ended May 31, 2024, net cash used in financing activities was $402.9 million, consisting mainly of $187.5 million related to the partial repayment of the 2022
Term Facility, $171.9 million of share repurchases and $111.3 million of dividend payments, partially offset by $83.5 million of proceeds from employee stock plans.

For the nine months ended May 31, 2023, net cash used in financing activities was $437.4 million, consisting mainly of $312.5 million related to the partial repayment of the 2022
Term Facility, $101.4 million of dividend payments and $67.1 million of share repurchases, partially offset by $55.9 million of proceeds from employee stock plans.

Free Cash Flow

We define free cash flow, a non-GAAP financial measure, as cash provided by operating activities less purchases of property, equipment and leasehold improvements ("PPE") and
capitalized internal-use software. We believe free cash flow is a liquidity measure that provides useful information to management and investors about the amount of cash generated by
the business that, after capital expenditures, can be used for strategic opportunities, including returning value to stockholders, investing in our business, making strategic acquisitions
and strengthening the balance sheet. Free cash flow should be considered in addition to, rather than as a substitute for, consolidated net income as a measure of our performance and net
cash provided by operating activities as a measure of our liquidity.

The following table reconciles our net cash provided by operating activities to free cash flow:

Nine Months Ended
May 31,
(dollar amounts in thousands) 2024 2023 $ Change
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 537,177 $ 489,903 $ 47,274
Less: purchases of property, equipment, leasehold improvements and capitalized internal-use software (59,722) (61,421) 1,699
Free cash flow $ 477,455 $ 428482 $ 48,973

We generated free cash flow of $477.5 million during the nine months ended May 31, 2024, an increase of $49.0 million compared with the same period a year ago. This increase was
driven by a $47.3 million increase in cash provided by operating activities, primarily due to higher net income, partially offset by an increase in working capital requirements.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of May 31, 2024 and August 31, 2023, we had no off-balance sheet financing other than letters of credit incurred in the ordinary course of business. Refer to Note 10, Debt and
Note 11, Commitments and Contingencies in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for more information
on our letters of credit.

As of May 31, 2024 and August 31, 2023, we also had no other arrangements with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships (such as entities often referred to as structured
finance or special purpose entities) established for purposes of facilitating off-balance sheet financing, other debt arrangements, or other contractually limited purposes.

Foreign Currency Exposure

As we operate globally, we are exposed to the risk that our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be impacted by changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
As of May 31, 2024, we maintained a series of foreign currency forward contracts to hedge a portion of our primary currency exposures, namely the British Pound Sterling, Indian
Rupee, Euro and Philippine Peso. We entered into these contracts with the intent to hedge between 25% to 75% of the currency exposure related to our projected operating income in
these primary currencies over their respective hedge periods. The hedge maturity periods range from the fourth quarter of fiscal 2024 through the third quarter of fiscal 2025.
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The following table summarizes the gross notional value of our foreign currency forward contracts to purchase the respective local currency with U.S. dollars as of:

May 31, 2024 August 31, 2023

Notional Contract Amount Notional Contract Amount
(in thousands) Local Currency Amount (USD) Local Currency Amount (USD)
Indian Rupee Rs 4,481,555 $ 53,400 Rs 3,363,150 $ 40,300
British Pound Sterling £ 41,500 52,403 £ 45,000 56,098
Euro € 44,200 48,429 € 39,000 42,646
Philippine Peso P 1,874,172 32,900 P 1,888,541 33,600
Total $ 187,132 $ 172,644

Refer to Part I, Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for more information on our foreign currency exposures.
Critical Accounting Estimates

We prepare the Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with GAAP, which requires us to make certain estimates and apply judgements that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosures. We base our estimates on historical experience and other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable at the time the
Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared and, as such, they may ultimately differ materially from actual results.

We describe our significant accounting policies in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8.
of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023. These accounting policies were consistently applied in preparing our Consolidated Financial Statements
for the nine months ended May 31, 2024.

We disclosed our critical accounting estimates in Part II, Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, Critical Accounting
Estimates, of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023. There were no significant changes in our critical accounting estimates during the nine
months ended May 31, 2024.

New Accounting Pronouncements

For a discussion of accounting pronouncements recently adopted and those issued but not yet adopted, refer to Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1. of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, which we include herein by reference.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

In the normal course of business, we are exposed to foreign currency exchange risk and interest rate risk that could impact our financial position and results of operations. Current
market events have not required us to materially modify our financial risk management strategies with respect to our exposures to foreign currency exchange risk or interest rate risk.

Foreign Currency Transaction Risk

As we operate globally, we are exposed to the risk that our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be impacted by changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
As of May 31, 2024, we maintained a series of foreign currency forward contracts to hedge a portion of our primary currency exposures, namely the British Pound Sterling, Indian
Rupee, Euro and Philippine Peso. We entered into these contracts with the intent to hedge between 25% to 75% of the currency exposure related to our projected operating income in
these primary currencies over their respective hedge periods. The hedge maturity
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periods range from the fourth quarter of fiscal 2024 through the third quarter of fiscal 2025. We utilize cash flow hedges to manage risk and not for speculative or trading purposes.

The changes in fair value for these foreign currency forward contracts are initially reported as a component of Accumulated other comprehensive loss ("TAOCL") on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets and subsequently reclassified into SG&A in the Consolidated Statements of Income when the hedged exposure affects earnings.

The following table reflects the foreign currency forward contracts gain (loss) reclassified from AOCL into income:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
May 31, May 31,
(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Foreign currency forward contracts gain (loss) reclassified from AOCL into income $ (518) $ (230) $ (200) $ (5,474)

Foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, net of hedge activity, decreased operating income by $1.1 million and $1.5 million for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2024,
respectively, when compared to the same respective periods a year ago.

We performed a sensitivity analysis as of May 31, 2024 to determine the effects on both the fair value of our outstanding foreign currency forward contracts and our operating income,
excluding these forward contracts, of a hypothetical devaluation of the U.S. dollar by 10% as of May 31, 2024, relative to the other foreign currencies in which we transact. The
sensitivity analysis indicated that a devaluation of the U.S. dollar by 10% would have increased the fair value of our outstanding forward contracts by approximately $18 million and
our operating income, excluding these forward contracts, would have decreased by an estimated $32 million based on the results from our nine months ended May 31, 2024. This
sensitivity analysis has inherent limitations as it disregards the possibility that rates of multiple foreign currencies will not always move in the same direction relative to the value of the
U.S. dollar over time and does not account for our forward contracts that we utilize to mitigate fluctuations in exchange rates.

Refer to Note 5, Derivative Instruments in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1. of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for more information
on our foreign currency exposures and our foreign currency forward contracts.

Foreign Currency Translation Risk

We are exposed to foreign currency risk due to the translation of our results from certain international operations into U.S. Dollars as part of the consolidation process. Fluctuations in
foreign currency exchange rates can create volatility in our results of operations and our financial condition.

The following table reflects the foreign currency translation adjustment gains and losses recorded in Other comprehensive income (loss):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
May 31, May 31,
(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Foreign currency translation adjustment gains (losses) $ (1,282) § 4,943 § (2,330) $ 16,782

Interest Rate Risk
Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments

As of May 31, 2024, we had Cash and cash equivalents of $453.1 million and Investments of $68.9 million. Our Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and highly liquid
investments including demand deposits and money market funds and our Investments consist of mutual funds. We are exposed to interest rate risk through fluctuations of interest rates
on these investments. As we have a restrictive investment policy, our financial exposure to fluctuations in interest rates is expected to remain low. Refer to Note 2, Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8. of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information on our
Cash and cash equivalents.
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Debt

As of May 31, 2024, our outstanding variable interest rate debt included $187.5 million under the 2022 Term Facility and $250.0 million under the 2022 Revolving Facility. From the
borrowing date through November 30, 2023, the outstanding borrowings under the 2022 Credit Facilities bore interest at a rate equal to the applicable one-month Term SOFR plus a
1.1% spread (comprised of a 1.0% interest rate margin based on a debt leverage pricing grid plus a 0.1% credit spread adjustment). From December 1, 2023 through May 31, 2024, the
spread decreased to 0.975% (comprised of a 0.875% interest rate margin based on a debt leverage pricing grid plus a 0.1% credit spread adjustment).

To mitigate our exposure to interest rate volatility due to changes in SOFR, we entered into the 2022 Swap Agreement on March 1, 2022, to hedge a portion of our outstanding floating
SOFR debt with a fixed interest rate of 1.162%. The 2022 Swap Agreement matured on February 28, 2024. To continue to hedge our outstanding floating SOFR debt, on March 1,
2024, we entered into the 2024 Swap Agreement with a notional amount of $200.0 million at a fixed interest rate of 5.145%. The notional amount of the 2024 Swap Agreement
declines by $50.0 million on a quarterly basis beginning May 31, 2024 and matures on February 28, 2025. As of May 31, 2024, the notional amount of the 2024 Swap Agreement was
$150.0 million.

Our Senior Notes have a fixed interest rate and are not subject to interest rate change. As such, our interest rate exposure is limited to the outstanding principal balance of our variable
rate debt under our 2022 Credit Facilities in excess of our swap agreements. As of May 31, 2024, our interest rate exposure on our variable rate debt, net of our 2024 Swap Agreement,
was $287.5 million. Assuming the principal balance of our outstanding variable rate debt, net of the 2024 Swap Agreement, remained at $287.5 million, a hypothetical 25 basis point
change (up or down) in the one-month SOFR would result in an approximate $1 million change to our annual interest expense as of May 31, 2024.

Refer to Note 5, Derivative Instruments and Note 10, Debt and in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1. of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for more information on our swap agreements and outstanding borrowings as of May 31, 2024.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, including our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), as of the end of the period covered by this report. Our Principal
Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this report.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the three and nine
months ended May 31, 2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The information set forth under "Contingencies" in Note 11, Commitments and Contingencies, contained in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item
1., to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q is incorporated by reference in answer to this Item.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

There have been no material changes to the risk factors identified in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023.
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ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
Items 2(a) and (b) are not applicable as there have been no unregistered sales of equity securities.
(i)  Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
The following table provides a month-to-month summary of our share repurchase activity during the three months ended May 31, 2024:

Maximum Number of Shares (or

Total Number of Shares Purchased Approximate Dollar Value)
Total Number of Average Price as Part of Publicly Announced that May Yet be Purchased Under the
Period Shares Purchased® Paid per Share Plans or Programs® Plans or Programs (in US$)®
March 2024 36,688 $ 466.23 36,200 $ 170,954
April 2024 48,500 $ 432.56 48,500 $ 149,974
May 2024 52,805 $ 433.53 50,450 $ 128,082
Total 137,993 135,150

(1) Includes 135,150 shares purchased under the stock repurchase program, as well as 2,843 shares repurchased primarily to satisfy withholding tax obligations due upon the vesting of stock-based
awards.

(2) AsofMay 31,2024, $128.1 million remained authorized under our share repurchase program for future share repurchases. Repurchases may be made from time-to-time in the open market or via
privately negotiated transactions, subject to market conditions. There is no defined number of shares to be repurchased over a specified timeframe through the life of our share repurchase
program. It is expected that share repurchases will be paid using existing and future cash generated by operations. Refer to Part I, Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations, Liquidity and Capital Resources, of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for further discussion on our share repurchase program.

Trading Arrangements

On August 11, 2023, we entered into an agreement to adopt a trading arrangement for the repurchase of shares of our common stock in the open market consistent with the provisions
of Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The arrangement provides for the repurchase of up to $250 million of our common stock during the period from September 1,
2023 through August 31, 2024 pursuant to a written algorithm for determining the amount, price and date for purchase of shares of our common stock.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
None.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

None of our directors or officers (as defined in Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), adopted or terminated a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement or a non-
Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement (each as defined in Item 408(a) and (c) of Regulation S-K) during the quarter ended May 31, 2024.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit Number Exhibit Form File No. Exhibit No. Filing Date Filed
Description Herewith
10.1 FactSet Research Systems Inc. Executive Severance Plan, as amended X
311 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule X
— 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act, as amended
1.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule X
—= 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act, as amended
301 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as X
=== adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
22 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as X
=== adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
XBRL Instance Document - The instance document does not appear in the
101.INS interactive data file because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline X
XBRL document
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema X
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase X
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document X
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase X
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase X
104 Cover page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in X

Exhibit 101)
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

FACTSET RESEARCH SYSTEMS INC.
(Registrant)

Date: July 3, 2024 /s/ LINDA S. HUBER

Linda S. Huber
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ GREGORY T. MOSKOFF

Gregory T. Moskoff
Managing Director, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

54



FACTSET RESEARCH SYSTEMS INC.
EXECUTIVE SEVERANCE PLAN
As Amended June 17, 2024
Introduction

As of the Effective Date, the Company adopted this plan known as the FactSet Research Systems Inc. Executive Severance Plan. The
Plan was adopted to provide severance compensation to the Company’s eligible executives in the event of an Eligible Termination, including in the event
of an Eligible Termination following a Change of Control, under the terms and conditions set forth herein.

ARTICLE I
Definitions and Interpretations
SECTION 1.01. Definitions. As used herein, the following words and phrases shall have the following respective meanings.
(a) Accountant. The meaning set forth in Section 5.03(c).

(b) Affiliate. Any corporation, partnership, limited liability company, limited liability partnership, association, trust or other
organization that, directly or indirectly, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the Company. For purposes of the preceding
sentence, “control” (including, with correlative meanings, the terms “controlled by” and “under common control with”), as used with respect to any
entity or organization, shall mean the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power (i) to vote more than 50% of the securities having ordinary voting
power for the election of directors (or the equivalent) of the controlled entity or organization or (ii) to direct or cause the direction of the management
and policies of the controlled entity or organization, whether through the ownership of voting securities or by contract or otherwise.

(c) Base Salary. The annual rate of base salary paid by the Company or its Subsidiary to a Participant (including amounts that the
Participant could have received in cash had he or she not elected to contribute to an employee benefit plan or a deferred compensation program
maintained by the Company or any Subsidiary), excluding overtime pay, bonuses, employee benefits, all forms of incentive compensation and all other
types of compensation and special payments. For purposes of an Eligible Termination at any time other than during the Change of Control Protection
Period, Base Salary shall mean the Participant’s Base Salary as in effect immediately prior to termination of employment, and for purposes of an Eligible
Termination during the Change of Control Protection Period, Base Salary shall mean the greater of the Participant’s Base Salary as in effect immediately
prior to (i) termination of employment and (ii) the Change of Control.

(d) Board. The Board of Directors of the Company, provided that, following a Change of Control, the Board shall mean the board of
directors (or similar governing body) of the ultimate parent company resulting from such Change of Control.



(e) Cause. The Participant:

(1) has engaged in gross negligence, gross incompetence, or gross misconduct in the performance of the Participant’s duties with respect
to the Company or one of its Subsidiaries;

(i) has willfully and continually failed to perform the Participant’s duties and responsibilities to the Company or one of its Subsidiaries;

(i) has breached any material provision of any written agreement between the Company or one of its Subsidiaries, on the one hand,
and the Participant, on the other hand, including any confidentiality, non-solicitation or non-compete agreement, or any material policy or code of
conduct established by the Company or one of its Subsidiaries;

(iv) has engaged in willful misconduct that is, or could reasonably expected to be, materially injurious to the Company or one of its
Subsidiaries;

(v) has engaged in other personal or professional conduct that can reasonably be expected to bring public embarrassment or disgrace to
the Company or one of its Subsidiaries;

(vi) has committed an act of theft, fraud, embezzlement, misappropriation, insubordination or dishonesty resulting in material harm to
the Company or one of its Subsidiaries;

(vii) has committed a material breach of a fiduciary duty to the Company or one of its Subsidiaries; or

(viii) has been convicted of or pleaded guilty or no contest to any felony (or a crime of similar import in a foreign jurisdiction) or any
crime involving fraud, dishonesty or moral turpitude;

provided, however, that upon the occurrence of one or more conditions specified in (i) through (iv) above, the Plan Administrator shall provide notice to
the Participant of the existence of such condition(s) and the Participant shall have 30 days following receipt of such notice to correct such condition(s), if
correctable, and any failure by the Participant to correct such condition(s) shall result in the Participant’s termination of employment for Cause upon
expiration of such 30-day corrective period or such later date specified by the Plan Administrator. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for purposes of a
termination of employment during the Change of Control Protection Period, (A) “Cause” shall mean the Participant has engaged in conduct described in
clauses (i), (iv), (vi), (vii) or (viii) of this Section 1.01(e) and (B) the termination of employment of the Participant shall not be deemed for “Cause”
unless and until not less than two-thirds of the entire membership of the Board has adopted a resolution finding that, in its good faith opinion, the
Participant is guilty of the conduct described in clauses (i), (iv), (vi), (vii) or (viii) of this Section 1.01(e), and specifying the particulars thereof in detail.



(f) Change of Control. Change of Control as defined in the Company Stock Option and Award Plan, as amended and restated effective
December 19, 2017, as amended from time to time, or any successor plan thereto; provided, however, that no such amendment to the definition of
Change of Control shall be effective during the Potential Change of Control Protection Period without the prior written consent of any affected

Participant.

(g) Change of Control Protection Period. The period commencing on the date a Change of Control occurs and ending on the second
anniversary of such date.

(h) Change of Control Separation Benefits. The payments and benefits due pursuant to Section 3.02.
(i) COBRA. The Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985.
(j) Code. The Internal Revenue Code of 1986.

(k) Company. FactSet Research Systems Inc., a Delaware corporation.

(1) Date of Termination. The date on which a Participant’s employment with the Company and its Subsidiaries is terminated, without the
concurrent or immediate re- employment of the Participant by the Company or one of its Subsidiaries (or any successor thereto).

(m) Disability. The Participant’s substantial inability to perform his or her duties for the Company or any of its Subsidiaries due to
physical or mental illness or incapacity for any consecutive period of six (6) months or any non-consecutive periods aggregating six (6) months or more

in any twelve (12)-month period.

(n) Effective Date. March 1, 2020.

(o) Eligible Termination. A termination of a Participant’s employment with the Company and its Subsidiaries without Cause or, during
the Change of Control Protection Period, a resignation by the Participant for Good Reason. For the avoidance of doubt, an Eligible Termination shall not

include:

(i) atermination of a Participant’s employment with the Company and its ~ Subsidiaries for Cause;
(i) atermination of a Participant’s employment with the Company and its Subsidiaries due to death or Disability; or

(iii) the voluntary termination of the Participant for any reason, including retirement, other than a resignation for Good Reason during
the Change of Control Protection Period.

(p) Exchange Act. The Securities Exchange Act of 1934.




(@) Good Reason. Any of the following actions taken without the Company’s consent:

(1) the assignment to the Participant of any duties inconsistent in any material respect with the Participant’s position (including status,
offices, titles and reporting requirements), authority, duties or responsibilities, or any other action by the Company which results in a material
diminution in such position, authority, duties or responsibilities, in each case, from those in effect, immediately prior to the Change of Control;

(i) areduction in the Participant’s annual base salary, annual target bonus opportunity or annual target long-term incentive opportunity,
in each case, from those in effect immediately prior to the Change of Control;

(i) the Company’s requiring the Participant to relocate the Participant’s primary workplace more than 50 miles from where the
Participant was principally employed as of the Change of Control; or

(iv) the Company’s failure to pay any compensation due and owing to the Participant.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the occurrence of any of the events described in the immediately preceding clauses (i) through (iv) above shall not
constitute Good Reason unless, (A) the Participant provides the Company with written notice within 90 days after the initial occurrence of any such
event that the Participant believes constitutes Good Reason; (B) the Company thereafter fails to cure such event within 30 days after receipt of such
notice; and (C) the Participant’s date of termination as a result of such event occurs within one year after the expiration of the cure period. For purposes
of this Section 1.01(q), during the Change of Control Protection Period, any good faith determination of “Good Reason” made by the Participant shall be
conclusive.

(r) Other Source. The meaning set forth in Section 3.04(c).

(s) Outplacement Benefit. The meaning set forth in Section 3.01(d).

(t) Participant. A Tier I Employee or Tier Il Employee, as applicable, unless otherwise designated by the Plan Administrator pursuant to
Section 2.01.

(u) Payments. The meaning set forth in Section 5.03(a).

(v) Person. Any person, entity or “group” within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or Section 14(d)(2) of the Exchange Act.

(w) Plan. This FactSet Research Systems Inc. Executive Severance Plan, as it may be amended or modified from time to time.

(x) Plan Administrator. The Compensation and Talent Committee of the Board or any other committee of the Board that performs a
similar function, in each case, as appointed by the Board.



(y) Potential Change of Control. The occurrence of any of the following events:
(1) the Company enters into a definitive agreement, the consummation of which would result in a Change of Control;

(i) the Company or any Person publicly announces an intention to take actions which, if consummated, would constitute a Change of
Control; or

(iii) the Board adopts a resolution to the effect that a Potential Change of Control has occurred.

(z) Potential Change of Control Protection Period. The period commencing on the date a Potential Change of Control occurs and ending
on the earlier of (i) the termination or abandonment of the Potential Change of Control or (ii) the conclusion of the Change of Control Protection Period.

(aa) Release. The meaning set forth in Section 3.03.

(bb) Release Condition. The meaning set forth in Section 3.03.

(cc) Separation Benefits. The payments and benefits due pursuant to Section 3.01.

(dd) Specified Employee. A “specified employee” within the meaning of Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code.

(ee) Subsidiary. Any entity in which the Company, directly or indirectly, holds a majority of the voting power of such entity’s
outstanding shares of capital stock or other voting interests, as applicable.

(ff) Target Bonus. The Participant’s annual target bonus under the Company’s annual incentive plan as in effect, for purposes of an
Eligible Termination at any time other than during the Change of Control Protection Period, immediately prior to termination of employment and, for

purposes of an Eligible Termination during the Change of Control Protection Period, immediately prior to (i) termination of employment and (ii) the
Change of Control, whichever is greater.

(gg) Tier I Employee. An employee who is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

(hh) Tier II Employee. An employee who is (i) the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, or (ii) an Executive Vice President or Senior

Vice President of the Company and a direct report to the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, or (iii) who is an officer of the Company for purposes
of Section 16 of the Exchange Act.



(i) WARN Act. As applicable, the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act and any other similar U.S. Federal, state or other
applicable law mandating the provision of notice to employees prior to termination of employment.

(G)) Welfare Continuation Reimbursement. The meaning set forth in Section 3.01(c).

SECTION 1.02 Interpretations. In the Plan, unless a clear contrary intention applies, (a) pronouns and other words of gender shall be read
as gender-neutral, (b) words importing the singular only shall include the plural and vice versa, (c¢) the words “include”, “includes” or “including” shall
be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation”,(d) references to any statute shall be deemed to refer to such statute as may be amended
from time to time and any rules, regulations other authoritative guidance promulgated thereunder by the appropriate governmental authority, (e)
reference to any agreement, document or instrument means such agreement, document or instrument as amended or modified and in effect from time to
time in accordance with the terms thereof, (f) “hereunder”, “hereof”, “hereto”, “herein” and words of similar import shall be deemed references to the
Plan as a whole, including the Exhibit, and not to any particular Article or Section thereof, (g) references to documents, instruments or agreements shall
be deemed to refer to as well all addenda, exhibits, schedules or amendments thereto, (h) all references to provisions, Sections, Articles or Exhibits are to
provisions, Sections, Articles and Exhibits of the Plan, unless otherwise specified, (i) the word “or” is disjunctive and not exclusive, (j) “promptly”
means within thirty (30) days and (k) references to a Person are also to its permitted successors and assigns (including, with respect to the Company, any
successor or assignee to the Company’s business or assets who becomes bound by the Plan pursuant to Article VI). The titles and headings of the
sections in the Plan are for convenience of reference only, and in the event of any conflict, the text of the Plan, rather than such titles or headings, shall
control.

ARTICLE II
Eligibility

SECTION 2.01. Participation. Each Tier I Employee and Tier Il Employee shall be a Participant; provided that, subject to Section 2.03,
any Tier I Employee or Tier Il Employee may be designated as not being a Participant by action of the Plan Administrator at any time.

SECTION 2.02. Duration of Participation. A Participant shall cease to be a Participant when he or she ceases to hold a position that
qualifies him or her as a Tier | Employee or Tier I Employee. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Participant who is entitled, as a result of ceasing to hold
a position that qualifies him as a Tier I Employee or Tier Il Employee, to payment of Separation Benefits, Change of Control Separation Benefits or any
other amounts due under the Plan shall remain a Participant until all such Separation Benefits, Change of Control Separation Benefits or other amounts
have been paid to the Participant.

SECTION 2.03. Change of Control Protection Period. Notwithstanding anything in this Article II, during the Change of Control
Protection Period, the Plan Administrator may not take any action to designate a Participant as not being a Participant or to designate a Tier | Employee
as a Tier II Employee, in each case, without the prior written consent of the applicable Participant.



ARTICLE III
Separation Benefits

SECTION 3.01. Non-Change of Control Separation Benefits. If a Participant incurs an Eligible Termination at any time other than during
the Change of Control Protection Period and satisfies the Release Condition, then the Company or a Subsidiary, as appropriate, shall pay or provide the
following, subject to the Participant’s ongoing compliance with the Release:

(a) Cash Severance.
(i) Tier I Employee: An amount equal to 1.5 times the sum of (A) Base Salary and (B) Target Bonus;
(ii) Tier II Employee: An amount equal to 1 times the sum of (A) Base Salary and (B) Target Bonus,

which severance amount shall, in each case, be payable in substantially equal installments consistent with the Company’s payroll
practices, with the first installment beginning on the first payroll date promptly following the satisfaction of the Release Condition;
provided that any such installments payable to the Participant prior to such date shall be accrued and paid to the Participant in a lump sum
on such date; provided, further that, to the extent necessary to comply with Section 409A of the Code, if the period during which the
Release Condition is satisfied spans two calendar years, the payment of such severance amount shall commence in the second calendar
year;

(b) Pro Rata Bonus. A pro rata portion of the Participant’s annual bonus under the Company’s annual incentive plan in respect of the
fiscal year of the Company in which the Date of Termination occurs based on the number of days elapsed in such fiscal year through the Date of
Termination and actual achievement of applicable performance goals (except that any performance goals based on the Participant’s personal performance
shall be treated as attained at no less than target level), and any other performance goals shall be deemed achieved at least at the level applicable to
similarly situated active employees of the Company. Such pro- rata bonus shall be paid when annual bonuses are paid to other senior executives of the
Company (or, if later, following the satisfaction of the Release Condition), and in all events no later than 2.5 months following the end of the applicable
fiscal year of the Company in which the Date of Termination occurs;



(c) Welfare Benefits. Reimbursement by the Company of the cost of the Participant’s premiums for continued coverage under the group
health plan of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries for the Participant and the Participant’s eligible dependents covered by the applicable group health
plan as of the Date of Termination, in an amount equal to the cost of such premiums as paid by active employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries
(the “Welfare Continuation Reimbursement”), for, in the case of each Tier I Employee, the 18-month period following the Date of Termination or, in the
case of each Tier II Employee, the 12-month period following the Date of Termination; which, provided that the Participant timely elects and enrolls in
continuation coverage under COBRA, shall be payable directly to the sponsor of the applicable group health plan during the applicable COBRA
continuation period. Such reimbursement payments shall commence on the first day of the month following the Date of Termination; provided, however,
that such payments shall cease to the extent the Release Condition is not satisfied or the Participant fails to comply with the terms of the Release; and

(d) Outplacement. Reasonable outplacement assistance with a firm determined by the Company for up to one year following the Date of
Termination (or, if earlier, the date the Participant commences employment with a subsequent employer), up to a maximum cost of $25,000 (the
“Outplacement Benefit”).

SECTION 3.02. Change of Control Separation Benefits. If a Participant incurs an Eligible Termination during the Change of Control
Protection Period, then the Company or a Subsidiary, as appropriate, shall pay or provide the following:

(a) Cash Severance.
(1) Tier I Employee: An amount equal to 2 times the sum of (A) Base Salary and (B) Target Bonus;

(i) Tier IT Employee: An amount equal to 1.5 times the sum of (A) Base Salary and (B) Target Bonus,

which severance amount shall be payable in a lump sum within 10 days following the Date of Termination; provided, however, that to the
extent necessary to comply with Section 409A of the Code, such amount shall be paid on the same schedule as provided in Section

3.01(a).

(b) Pro Rata Bonus. A pro rata portion of the Participant’s Target Bonus in respect of the fiscal year of the Company in which the Date
of Termination occurs based on the number of days elapsed in such fiscal year through the Date of Termination, which shall be payable within 10 days
following the Date of Termination;

(c) Welfare Benefits. Welfare Continuation Reimbursement, for, in the case of each Tier I Employee, the 24-month period following the
Date of Termination or, in the case of each Tier II Employee, the 18-month period following the Date of Termination; which, provided that the
Participant timely elects and enrolls in continuation coverage under COBRA, shall be payable directly to the sponsor of the applicable group health plan
during the applicable COBRA continuation period. Such reimbursement payments shall commence on the first day of the month following the Date of
Termination; and



(d) Outplacement. The Outplacement Benefit.

SECTION 3.03. Release Condition. In order to receive any of the benefits outlined in Section 3.01, the Participant must execute and
deliver a Separation Agreement and General Release of Claims substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Release”) that becomes
irrevocable in accordance with its terms within 55 days following the Date of Termination (the “Release Condition”).

SECTION 3.04. Other Benefits Payable and Offset.

(a) Accrued Benefits. The Separation Benefits and Change of Control Separation Benefits shall be payable in addition to, and not in lieu
of, other accrued or vested or earned but deferred compensation, rights, options, restricted stock units, performance units or other benefits that are owed
to a Participant upon or following his or her termination of employment, including accrued amounts or benefits previously earned and payable under any
bonus or other compensation plans, stock option or other equity incentive plan, stock ownership plan, stock purchase plan, life insurance plan, health
plan, disability plan or similar or successor plan, and any business expenses required to be reimbursed under the applicable policies of the Company and
its Subsidiaries. For the avoidance of doubt, any outstanding equity or equity- based awards granted to the Participant and outstanding as of the Date of
Termination shall be treated in accordance with the terms of the applicable equity incentive plan, award agreements and any other agreement with
respect thereto.

(b) Offsets. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Separation Benefits or Change of Control Separation Benefits paid under the Plan will
be reduced, on a dollar-for-dollar basis, by the following, and such reduction shall be made without any change to the timing of payment in a manner that
would violate Section 409A of the Code:

(1) any payments made or to be made to the Participant to comply with, or satisfy liability under, the WARN Act requiring payments in
connection with an involuntary termination of employment, plant shutdown, or workforce reduction, including amounts paid in connection with

paid leaves of absence, back pay, benefits, and other payments intended to satisfy such liability or alleged liability; and

(i) any statutory or common law severance or other separation payments required to be paid to the Participant under applicable law.



(¢) No Duplicative Benefits.

(1) Ifa Participant is eligible to receive benefits under (i) the Plan; and (ii) any other severance plan, program or agreement (“Other
Source”), then for each category of payment or benefit under the Plan (i.e., cash severance, pro rata bonus, welfare continuation and
outplacement), the Plan Administrator shall compare such payments or benefits due under the Plan to those due under the Other Source and the
Participant shall be provided with the better of each such payment or benefit; provided, however, under no circumstances shall the Participant
receive duplicate payments or benefits as determined by the Plan Administrator. If the Participant is eligible to receive benefits from any Other
Source, the form and timing of payments under such Other Source will be determined as set forth by such Other Source, and the form and timing
of any remaining monetary and nonmonetary benefits payable under the Plan will be as described herein without any change in the timing of
payment that would violate Section 409A of the Code.

SECTION 3.05. Payment Obligations Absolute. Unless otherwise determined by the Plan Administrator prior to a Change of Control, the
obligations of the Company and the Subsidiaries to pay the Separation Benefits or the Change of Control Separation Benefits, as applicable, as required
by the Plan shall be absolute and unconditional and shall not be affected by any circumstances, including any set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense
or other right that the Company or any Affiliate may have against any Participant. In no event shall a Participant be obligated to seek other employment
or take any other action by way of mitigation of the amounts payable to a Participant under any of the provisions of the Plan, nor shall the amount of any
payment hereunder be reduced by any compensation earned by a Participant as a result of employment by another employer.

ARTICLE IV

Participating Employers
The Company is the sponsor of the Plan. The Company and each Subsidiary that employs a Tier I Employee or Tier II Employee shall be
participating employers of the Plan. Each Subsidiary that is a participating employer of the Plan shall only be considered a participating employer with
respect to the Participants who are employees of such Subsidiary.

ARTICLE V
Certain Tax Rules

SECTION 5.01. Tax Withholding; No Guarantee of Tax Consequences. The Company and its Affiliates shall have the power to deduct or
withhold, or require the Participant to remit to the Company or its Affiliates, any amount deemed sufficient to satisfy U.S. Federal, state, local and non-
U.S. taxes, as deemed necessary or appropriate by the Company or its Affiliate. No representation, commitment or guarantee is made that any amounts
paid under the Plan will be excludable from the recipient’s gross income for any tax purpose, or that any other tax treatment will apply or be available to
such Person.




Specified Employee, no payments under the Plan that constitute nonqualified deferred compensation subject to Section 409A of the Code shall be made
to such Participant prior to the date that is six months after such Participant’s Date of Termination, or such earlier date upon which such amount can be
paid or provided under Section 409A of the Code without being subject to additional taxes thereunder. Following any applicable six-month delay, all
such delayed payments will be paid in a single lump sum on the earliest date permitted under Section 409A of the Code that is also a business day.

SECTION 5.03. Cutback of Parachute Payments.

(a) Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary, if a Participant is a “disqualified individual” (as defined in Section 280G of the
Code) and any portion of the Separation Benefits, Change of Control Separation Benefits or other payments and benefits the Participant is entitled to
receive, has received or would receive in connection with a “change in ownership or control” as defined in Section 280G of the Code, whether pursuant
to the Plan, any Other Source or otherwise (collectively, the “Payments™), would constitute a “parachute payment” (as defined in Section 280G of the
Code), then the Payments shall be either (i) reduced (but not below zero) so that the aggregate present value of the Payments will be one dollar ($1.00)
less than three times such Participant’s “base amount” (as defined in Section 280G of the Code), such that no portion of the Payments shall be subject to
the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code, or (ii) paid in full, whichever produces the better net after-tax result for such Participant (taking into
account any applicable excise tax under Section 4999 of the Code and any other applicable tax). For the avoidance of doubt, this provision shall reduce
the Payments otherwise payable to the Participant only if doing so would place the Participant in a better net after-tax economic position as compared
with not doing so (taking into the account any excise taxes payable in respect of such Payments).

(b) If the determination made pursuant to Section 5.03(a) results in a reduction of the payments that would otherwise be paid to the
Participant except for the application of Section 5.03(a), the Company shall give the Participant notice of such determination not later than 20 days prior
to the date that the first Payment would otherwise be made. Such reduction in payments shall be first applied to reduce any cash payments that the
Participant would otherwise be entitled to receive (whether pursuant to the Plan or otherwise) and shall thereafter be applied to reduce other payments
and benefits, in each case, in reverse order beginning with the payments or benefits that are to be paid the furthest in time from the date of such
determination, unless, to the extent permitted by Section 409A of the Code, the Participant elects to have the reduction in payments applied in a different
order; provided that, in no event may such payments be reduced in a manner that would result in subjecting the Participant to additional taxation under
Section 409A of the Code. Within 10 days following such determination, the Company or the applicable Affiliate shall pay or distribute to the
Participant or for the Participant’s benefit such amounts as are then due to the Participant under the Plan or otherwise and shall pay or distribute to the
Participant or for the Participant’s benefit in the future such amounts as become due to the Participant under the Plan or otherwise promptly following
the date on which such payments or benefits become due.



(c) All determinations as to the Payments to be reduced and the amount of reduction shall be made by a nationally recognized certified
public accounting firm selected by the Company prior to the Change of Control (the “Accountant”), whose determination shall be conclusive and
binding. It is expressly understood that in determining the amount of any reduction to the Payments, the Accountant shall take into account any positions
to mitigate any excise taxes payable under Section 4999 of the Code, such as the value of any reasonable compensation for services to be rendered by the
Participant before or after the Change of Control, including any amounts payable to the Participant following the Date of Termination with respect to any
noncompetition provisions that may apply to the Participant, and the Company shall cooperate in the valuation of any such services, including any
noncompetition provisions. All such determinations by the Accountant shall be at the Company’s expense.

(d) Ifthe Accountant (based upon the assertion of a deficiency by the Internal Revenue Service against either the Company or the
Participant, with respect to which the Accountant believes the Internal Revenue Service should prevail) determines that a Payment has been made or
provided and, through error or otherwise, that Payment, when aggregated with other Payments used in determining if a “parachute payment” exists,
exceeds one dollar ($1.00) less than three times the applicable Participant’s base amount, the Participant shall promptly repay such excess to the
Company upon notification that an overpayment has been made; provided, however, that no such repayment shall be required if and to the extent such
deemed repayment would not either reduce the amount on which the Participant is subject to tax under Sections 1 and 4999 of the Code or generate a
refund of such taxes. If the Accountant, based on controlling precedent or substantial authority, determines that a Payment has been reduced pursuant to
this Section 5.03 that could have been fully paid or distributed, the Company (or applicable payor) shall promptly pay such amount to the Participant,
together with interest at the applicable federal rate provided for in Section 7872(f)(2)(A) of the Code.

(e) In the event of any dispute between the Participant and the Internal Revenue Service in respect of amounts payable by the
Participant in respect of Section 4999 of the Code, the Company shall promptly make the Participant whole, on a net-after tax basis, upon demand by the
Participant, for all legal fees, court costs, fees of experts and other costs and expenses which the Participant incurs in any actual, threatened or
contemplated contest of any interpretation of, or determination under, the provisions of this Section 5.03, provided that such amounts must be incurred
not later than 10 years following the final date on which a Payment is scheduled to be made.



SECTION 5.04. Section 409A Considerations. Payments and benefits under the Plan are intended to be exempt from or compliant with
Section 409A of the Code, and the Company shall interpret and administer the Plan in accordance therewith. The Company may make amendments to
the Plan or revise the timing of any payments to be made hereunder in accordance with Section 409A of the Code; provided, however, that no such
adverse amendment shall be made during the Potential Change of Control Protection Period without the prior written consent of the Participant who
would be adversely affected by such proposed amendment. Each payment made under the Plan (including each separate installment payment in the case
of a series of installment payments) shall be deemed to be a separate payment for purposes of Section 409A of the Code. To the extent that any of the
payments or benefits provided for under the Plan are deemed to constitute nonqualified deferred compensation benefits subject to Section 409A of the
Code, references to “termination of employment”, “termination”, or words and phrases of similar import shall be deemed to refer to “separation from
service” as defined in Section 409A of the Code, and shall be interpreted and applied in a manner that is consistent with the requirements of Section
409A of the Code. To the extent that any reimbursements under the Plan are taxable to a Participant, any such reimbursement payment due to the
Participant shall be paid to the Participant as promptly as practicable consistent with the Company’s practice following the Participant’s appropriate
substantiation of expenses incurred, and in all events on or before the last day of the Participant’s taxable year following the taxable year in which the
related expense was incurred. Except as permitted by Section 409A, the in-kind benefits and reimbursements under the Plan are not subject to liquidation
or exchange for another benefit, and the amount of such benefits or reimbursements that a Participant receives in one taxable year shall not affect the
amount of such benefits or reimbursements that the Participant receives in any other taxable year. The welfare benefits provided pursuant to Sections
3.01(c) and 3.02(c) shall be provided at the Company’s discretion in a manner that is intended to satisfy an exception to Section 409A of the Code, and
therefore not be treated as an arrangement providing for nonqualified deferred compensation that is subject to taxation under Section 409A of the
Code,or in a manner that otherwise complies with Section 409A of the Code, including (a) providing such benefits on a nontaxable basis to the
Participant, (b) providing for the reimbursement of medical expenses incurred during the period of time during which the Participant would be entitled to
continuation coverage under a group health plan of the Company under COBRA,(c) providing that such benefits constitute the reimbursement or
provision of in-kind benefits payable at a specified time or pursuant to a fixed schedule as permitted under Section 409A of the Code or (d) requiring the
Participant to pay the actual cost of such coverage and having the Company reimburse the Participant for such payments (with such reimbursement, less
applicable taxes, for a particular calendar year during which the Participant received such coverage to be made within 15 days following the end of such
calendar year (but in no event, in the case of any Specified Employee, prior to the date that is six months after the Participant’s Date of Termination)).




ARTICLE VI
Successor to Company

The Plan shall bind any successor of the Company, its assets or its businesses (Whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger,
consolidation or otherwise), in the same manner and to the same extent that the Company would be obligated under the Plan if no succession had taken
place.

In the case of any transaction in which a successor would not by the foregoing provision or by operation of law be bound by the Plan, the
Company shall require such successor expressly and unconditionally to assume and agree to perform the Company’s obligations under the Plan, in the
same manner and to the same extent that the Company would be required to perform if no such succession had taken place.

ARTICLE VII
Amendment and Termination

SECTION 7.01. Amendment and Termination. The Company reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to modify, amend, suspend or
terminate the Plan, in whole or in part, at any time, prospectively or retrospectively, and for any reason, as it deems appropriate, by action of the Plan
Administrator, including, for the avoidance of doubt, to revoke the designation of an employee of the Company or its Subsidiaries as a Participant;
provided, however, that (a) except as set forth in Section 5.04, any such adverse modification, amendment, suspension or termination shall not be
effective until the first anniversary of the date such modification, amendment, suspension or termination is approved by the Plan Administrator, (b) any
such modification, amendment, suspension or termination shall not affect any right of any Participant to benefits under the Plan for a termination of
employment occurring prior to the effective date of such modification, amendment, suspension or termination and (c) the Company may not modify,
amend, suspend or terminate the Plan at any time in an adverse manner during the Potential Change of Control Protection Period. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the Plan and the Release may be modified by the Company at any time with respect to Participants employed primarily outside the U.S., as
necessary to comply with applicable law; provided, however, that the Company may not amend the Plan in an adverse manner at any time during the
Potential Change of Control Protection Period without the written consent of each Participant who would be adversely affected by such proposed
amendment.

SECTION 7.02. Documentation. All modifications, amendments, suspensions or terminations of the Plan shall be in writing.



ARTICLE VIII
Miscellaneous

SECTION 8.01. Employment Status. The Plan does not constitute a contract of employment or impose on any Participant, the Company
or any Affiliate any obligation to retain the Participant as an employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, to change the status of the Participant’s
employment, or to change the policies of the Company or any Affiliate regarding termination of employment. Nothing contained in the Plan will be
construed as (a) an employment contract between the Company or any Affiliate and any Participant; (b) a right of any Participant to be continued in the
employment of the Company or its Affiliates; or (c) a limitation of the right of the Company or its Affiliates to discharge any Participant, with or without
Cause, at any time. All Participants will be subject to discharge to the same extent as if the Plan had never been adopted.

SECTION 8.02. Sources of Payment. The benefits provided under the Plan will be paid from the general assets of the Company and its
Affiliates in accordance with the terms and provisions of the Plan. Nothing herein will be construed to require the Company or any Affiliate to maintain
any trust, fund, or otherwise segregate any amount for the benefit of any Person. Furthermore, no Person with a claim for Separation Benefits or Change
of Control Separation Benefits hereunder will have any claim against, right to, security or other interest in, any fund, account, or assets of the Company
or any Affiliate.

SECTION 8.03. Non-Alienation. No payments, benefits or rights hereunder shall be subject to anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer,
assignment, pledge, encumbrance, attachment, garnishment, charge, execution or levy of any kind, either voluntary or involuntary, by creditors of any
Participant or any Participant’s beneficiary. Any attempt to anticipate, alienate, sell, transfer, assign, pledge, encumber, attach, garnish, charge, execute or
levy any payments, benefits or rights hereunder will be void and without effect.

SECTION 8.04. Beneficiary. If a Participant is entitled to receive Separation Benefits or Change of Control Separation Benefits but dies
prior to receiving entire payment of such benefits, the Participant’s remaining Separation Benefits or Change of Control Separation Benefits shall be paid
to the Participant’s estate or designated beneficiaries in accordance with the Company’s applicable policies.

SECTION 8.05. Severability. Any provision in the Plan that is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction by reason of applicable law
shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating or affecting the remaining
provisions hereof, and any such prohibition or unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any
other jurisdiction.

SECTION 8.06. Governing Law. Except as otherwise required by applicable law, the terms, conditions and provisions of the Plan will be
construed, governed and enforced under the laws of the State of Connecticut, without regard to its conflicts of law provisions.



ARTICLE IX
Administration

SECTION 9.01. Administration. The Plan Administrator shall establish such rules and procedures as may be necessary to enable it to
discharge its duties hereunder. The Plan Administrator shall have all powers necessary or proper to administer the Plan and to discharge its duties
hereunder. The Plan Administrator may allocate to others certain aspects of the management, operation and responsibilities of the Plan, including the
employment of advisors and the delegation of any ministerial duties or functions, to qualified individuals or entities. In writing, or by custom, practice or
in operation, the Plan Administrator may provide for the allocation or delegation of any of its duties hereunder to such person or persons as it may
designate from time to time. The Plan Administrator will also be authorized to engage or employ agents, attorneys, accountants, consultants, and other
advisors which it deems to be necessary or appropriate to assist in discharging its duties hereunder. The Plan Administrator, shall exercise good faith,
reasonable discretion to (a) interpret the Plan, (b) determine eligibility for payments and the amount of such payments, (c) make any factual or legal
determinations,(d) resolve factual or legal disputes and (e) decide all matters arising in connection with the interpretation, administration and operation
of the Plan or the determination of eligibility for payments or the amount of such payments.



SEPARATION AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE OF CLAIMS

FactSet Research Systems Inc. (the “Company”) and I, [ @], have entered into this Separation Agreement and General Release of Claims (this
“Agreement”) to settle all known and unknown claims I might have against the Company and all related parties. Except to the extent governed by
federal law or any applicable non-U.S. law, this Agreement shall be governed by the statutes and common law of Connecticut, excluding any that
mandate the use of another jurisdiction’s laws. Capitalized terms used and not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the
Company’s Executive Severance Plan, as may be amended from time to time in accordance with its terms.

The Company and I agree as follows:
Section 1 -- In General

The Company and I hereby agree that my employment with the Company will end on [e] (the “Date of Termination”). Effective as
of the Date of Termination (or such earlier date as determined by the Company in its sole discretion), I shall irrevocably resign from all offices,
titles, position, and appointments at the Company and any of its Affiliates, including as a member of the Board (or a committee thereof), provided
that during the period from the date of this Agreement to the Date of Termination (such period, the “Transition Period”), I will remain employed by
the Company pursuant to this Agreement.

Section 2 -- Transition Period

During the Transition Period, subject to my continued employment, the Company promises that I will remain on active payroll and
continue to receive the compensation and benefits as provided to me immediately prior to the date of this Agreement, including my current base
salary ($[®] per annum), less all applicable federal, state, local and non-U.S. deductions and withholding, except I will not be entitled to receive
any additional equity-based awards during the Transition Period.

Section 3 -- Severance Payments and Benefits

The Company promises that I will receive the compensation and benefits set forth in Appendix A attached hereto (“Appendix A”),
which includes amounts payable under the Company’s Executive Severance Plan and pursuant to the Company’s equity- based awards, that are
conditioned on my execution of this Agreement and compliance with its terms. I understand and agree that I am not otherwise entitled to receive
the compensation and benefits set forth in Appendix A. I understand that this Agreement shall be immediately effective upon my execution and
delivery of the Agreement to the Company, provided that if I fail to comply with this Agreement (including the Second Release requirement
pursuant to Section 5), I will not receive the amounts or benefits that are set forth in Appendix A, and this Agreement will never go into effect.



Section 4 -- First Complete General Release of Claims

I acknowledge and represent that the consideration provided by the Company in this Agreement is adequate and satisfactory in
exchange for the general release provided by me in this Section 4 and for the other commitments I make in this Agreement, and that, in exchange
for the compensation and benefits set forth on Appendix A, the following releases are made as of the date of this Agreement:

(a) Claims Released: Except for the claims identified in Section 4(b), I irrevocably and unconditionally release (i.e., give up), acquit
and forever discharge all known and unknown claims, promises, causes of action, charges, complaints, demands, liabilities, obligations,
agreements, controversies, damages, suits, entitlements, costs, losses, debts and expenses (including attorneys’ fees and legal expenses) or similar
rights of any type that I currently may have (“Claims”) with respect to any Released Party listed in Section 4(c). I understand that I am not
releasing future rights or claims, meaning rights or claims that arise after the date of this Agreement. I understand that the Claims I am releasing
might arise under many different federal, state, local or non-U.S. laws (including statutes, regulations, other administrative guidance, and
common law doctrines). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, I acknowledge that I knowingly and voluntarily waive and release any
and all Claims under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (the “ADEA”) and Executive Order 11,141, which prohibit age discrimination
in employment, as well as all Claims under the following:

(i) Anti-discrimination statutes, such as Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Sections 1981 and 1983 of the Civil Rights Act of
1866, and Executive Order 11,246, which prohibit discrimination based on race, color, national origin, religion, or sex; the Equal Pay
Act, which prohibits paying men and women unequal pay for equal work; the Americans With Disabilities Act (“ADA”) and
Sections 503 and 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, which prohibit discrimination based on disability; the Genetic Information
Nondiscrimination Act of 2008 (“GINA”), which prohibits discrimination based on genetic information; and any other federal, state,
local or non-U.S. laws prohibiting discrimination in employment based on a protected category, such as actual or perceived race,
religion, color, national origin, ancestry, physical or mental disability, medical condition, genetic information, marital status, sex,
sexual orientation, or association with a person who has, or is perceived to have, any of those characteristics;

(i1) Federal employment statutes, such as the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act (“WARN Act”), which requires
that advance notice be given of certain work force reductions; the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”),
which, among other things, protects employee benefits; and any other federal laws relating to employment, such as veterans’
reemployment rights laws; and



(iii)  Other laws, such as any federal, state, local or non-U.S. laws mandating leaves of absence, restricting an employer’s right to
terminate employees, or otherwise regulating employment; any federal, state, local or non-U.S. law enforcing express or implied
employment contracts or requiring an employer to deal with employees fairly or in good faith; any other federal, state, local or non-
U.S. laws providing recourse for alleged wrongful discharge, tort, physical or personal injury, emotional distress, fraud, negligent
misrepresentation, defamation, and similar or related Claims; any other law relating to salary, commission, compensation, benefits,
and other matters; and family and medical leave laws.

Examples of released Claims include, but are not limited to the following (except to the extent explicitly preserved by Section 3 or
4(b) of this Agreement): (i) Claims that in any way relate to or arose during my employment with the Company, or the termination of that
employment, such as Claims for compensation, bonuses, commissions, lost wages, or unused accrued vacation or sick pay; (ii) Claims that
in any way relate to the design or administration of any employee benefit program; (iii) Claims that I have irrevocable or vested rights to
severance or similar benefits or to post-employment health or group insurance benefits; (iv) any Claims to attorneys’ fees or other
indemnities (such as under the Civil Rights Attorneys’ Fees Act), with respect to Claims I am releasing; or (v) Claims under the
Connecticut Human Rights and Opportunities Law, the Connecticut Family and Medical Leave Law, the Connecticut Age Discrimination
and Employee Insurance Benefits Law, and the Connecticut Smokers’ Rights Law.

(b) Claims Not Released: This Agreement does not release any claims that the law does not permit me to release. Nothing herein
affects my rights to indemnification in respect of my service as a director or officer of the Company or any of its Affiliates, reimbursement for
business expenses incurred through the date of this Agreement in accordance with Company policy, payment of accrued salary, payment for
accrued but unused vacation in accordance with Company policy, vested benefits under the Company’s 401(k) plan and any other rights pursuant
to the employee benefit plans of the Company and its Subsidiaries that are accrued and vested as of the date of this Agreement, subject to the
terms of the applicable plan. Furthermore, this Agreement does not release my rights to the payments set forth in Appendix A.

(c) Released Parties: The Released Parties are the Company, all current and former parents, Subsidiaries, Affiliates, partnerships, or
joint ventures, and, with respect to each of them, their predecessors and successors; and, with respect to each such entity, all of its past, present,
and future employees, officers, directors, stockholders, owners, representatives, assigns, attorneys, agents, insurers, employee benefit programs
(and the trustees, administrators, fiduciaries, and insurers of such programs), and any other persons acting by, through, under or in concert with
any of the persons or entities listed in this subsection, and their successors.



(d) Covenant not to Sue: I affirm that (i) I have not filed, and have not caused to be filed, and am not presently party to, any lawsuit
or arbitration against any Released Party in any forum and (ii) agree not to sue any of the Released Parties or become a party to a lawsuit on the
basis of any Claims of any type to date that arise out of any aspect of my employment or severance from employment other than, in each case, in
order to enforce rights under Appendix A or Section 4(b). I understand that this is an affirmative promise not to sue any of the Released Parties,
which is in addition to my general release of claims in Section 4(a). If, despite this Agreement, I sue or bring an arbitration action asserting any
Claim that I have released, (i) I will be liable to the Released Party (as defined below) for its attorneys’ fees, other defense costs, and any other
damages that my suit or arbitration causes, except those attributable to ADEA claims and (ii) the Company shall have no obligation to pay any
amounts set forth in Appendix A and the Company shall be entitled to recover any amounts set forth in Appendix A paid to me prior to the date
of such actual or threatened violation. I promise not to accept any relief or remedies not set forth in this Agreement as to any Claim I have
released by signing it.

(e) California Law: I acknowledge that I have read and understand Section 1542 of the California Civil Code that reads as follows:

A general release does not extend to claims that the creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at
the time of executing the release and that, if known by him or her, would have materially affected his or her settlement with the
debtor or released party.

I hereby expressly waive and relinquish all rights and benefits under that section and any law of any jurisdiction of similar effect with respect to
the release of any claims herein.

Section 5 -- Second Release of Claims

I agree that my eligibility to receive the compensation and benefits set forth on Appendix A is subject to my execution, not later than
21 days following the Date of Termination, of a second release of claims (the “Second Release”) in the form attached hereto as Appendix B, and
the non-revocation of the Second Release during the period specified therein. If I fail to execute and deliver the Second Release within 21 days
following the Date of Termination, or if I revoke the Second Release as provided therein, I will forfeit my right to receive the compensation and
benefits set forth on Appendix A.

Section 6 -- Promises

(a) Employment Termination: I agree that my employment with the Company and its Affiliates will end as of the Date of
Termination, and that I will receive the payments and benefits under this Agreement (subject to my compliance with the terms of this Agreement)
in lieu of any such other rights or benefits to which I possibly could be or become entitled. I have not been told that the Company or any
Released Party will rehire me.



(b) Company Property and Debts: On or before the Date of Termination, I will return to the Company all files, memoranda,
documents, records, copies of the foregoing, Company-provided credit cards, keys, building passes, security passes, access or identification
cards, devices and equipment belonging to the Company (including computers, laptops, tablets, smart phones, handheld electronic devices,
telephone equipment, and other electronic devices), and any other property of the Company or any Released Party in my possession or control,
other than specific mutually approved devices, all with the Company’s consent. I have cooperated with the Company and will cooperate with the
Company regarding the proper handling of any digital property of the Company that may be retained in mobile phone or related digital storage
devices, media or accounts. As of the Date of Termination, I will have cleared all expense accounts, repaid everything I owe to the Company or
any Released Party, paid all amounts I owe on Company-provided credit cards or accounts (such as mobile or smart phone accounts), and
canceled or personally assumed any such credit cards or accounts.

(c) Taxes: I am responsible for paying any taxes on amounts I receive because I signed this Agreement. I agree that the Company is
to withhold all taxes it determines it is legally required to withhold. I agree not to make any claim against the Company or any other person based

on how the Company reports amounts paid under this Agreement to tax authorities.

(d) Ownership of Claims: I have not assigned or transferred any Claim I am purporting to release, nor have I attempted to do so.



(e) Communication with Government Agency; Immunity: This Agreement does not preclude me from filing an administrative
charge or otherwise communicating with any federal, state, local or non-U.S. government office, official or agency, or from reporting possible
violations of any law or regulation, making disclosures to, and/or participating in any investigation or proceeding conducted by any federal, state,
local or non-U.S. agency, including the National Labor Relations Board, the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”), the Department of Fair Employment and Housing and/or any governmental authority charged with the
enforcement of any employment laws. However, I understand that by signing this Agreement I am waiving the right to recover any damages or to
receive other relief in any claim or suit brought by any such federal, state, local or non-U.S agency on my behalf, or with respect to any Claim
released by Paragraph 2(a) of this Agreement, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law. Furthermore, nothing in this Agreement prohibits
me from: (i) filing and, as provided for under Section 21F of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), maintaining the
confidentiality of a claim with the SEC; (ii) providing Confidential Information (as defined in Section 6(g) below) to the SEC, or providing the
SEC with information that would otherwise violate any provision of this Agreement, to the extent permitted by Section 21F of the Exchange Act;
(iii) cooperating, participating or assisting in an SEC investigation or proceeding without notifying the Company; or (iv) receiving a monetary
award as set forth in Section 21F of the Exchange Act. Notwithstanding my confidentiality obligations set forth in this Agreement, I understand
that, pursuant to the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016, I will not be held criminally or civilly liable under any U.S. Federal or State trade secret
law for the disclosure of a trade secret that: (i) is made (A) in confidence to a federal, state, local or non-U.S. government official, either directly
or indirectly, or to an attorney; and (B) solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (ii) is made in a
complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. I also understand that if I file a lawsuit for
retaliation by the Company for reporting a suspected violation of law, I may disclose the trade secret to my attorney and use the trade secret
information in the court proceeding, if I (i) file any document containing the trade secret under seal; and (ii) do not disclose the trade secret,
except pursuant to court order. I understand that if a disclosure of trade secrets was not done in good faith pursuant to the above, then I may be
subject to liability, including, without limitation, punitive damages and attorneys’ fees.

(f) Mutual Agreement Not to Disparage or Harm: Subject to Section 6(e), I agree not to criticize, denigrate, or disparage any
Released Party and, in particular, not to criticize, denigrate, or disparage any current or former employee of the Company. I understand and agree
that breach of this provision will result in damages that are difficult to quantify. The Company likewise agrees not to criticize, denigrate, or
disparage me or my work in any communication to a third party. I agree not to incur any expenses, obligations, or liabilities on behalf of the
Company.



(g) Confidential and Proprietary Information and Existing Obligations: Subject to Section 6(e), I understand that, at all times in
the future, I will remain bound by any Company or Company Affiliate agreement or policy relating to non-solicitation, non- competition,
confidential information, proprietary information, invention, or similar matters to which I am now subject, in accordance with the terms of such
agreement or policy, including but not limited to any FactSet Research Systems Inc. Intellectual Property Agreement which I previously signed
and any non-competition, non-solicitation and confidentiality restrictions to which I am subject pursuant to the Company’s Stock Option and
Award Plan, as amended from time to time, and any award agreements thereunder, and which are expressly incorporated by reference herein, and
I agree that to the extent any provision in any such agreement, plan or policy conflicts with any provision in this Agreement, the provision or
interpretation affording the greater protection to the Company shall govern. In particular, I acknowledge that my employment by the Company
created a relationship of confidence and trust with respect to any information of a confidential or secret nature disclosed to me by the Company
or a third party that (i) related to the business of the Company or to the business of any parent, Subsidiary, Affiliate, customer or supplier of the
Company or any other party with whom the Company agreed to hold information of such party in confidence, (ii) was not generally known to the
public or to other persons in the industry, or if generally known, was used, selected or arranged by the Company in a manner not generally known
and was made the property of the Company by mutual agreement of the parties, including by the Invention Assignment and Proprietary
Information Agreement, and/or similar agreement, and (iii) that the Company has taken reasonable measures under the circumstances to protect
from unauthorized use or disclosure (the “Confidential Information”). I agree and represent that I have not disclosed, copied, disseminated,
shared or transmitted any Confidential Information to any person, firm, corporation or entity for any reason or purpose whatsoever, except in the
course of carrying out my duties and responsibilities of employment with the Company. I also agree, at all times in the future, not to make use of
any Confidential Information for my own purposes or for the benefit of any person, firm, corporation or other entity. I further warrant and
represent that all Confidential Information in my possession, custody or control that is or was a property of the Company has been or shall be
returned to the Company by the Date of Termination.

(h) Implementation: I agree to sign any documents and do anything else that in the future is needed to implement this Agreement.

(i) Other Representations: In addition to my other representations in this Agreement, I have made the following representations to
the Company, on which I acknowledge it also has relied in entering into this Agreement with me:

(1) I have not suffered any job-related wrongs or injuries, such as any type of discrimination, for which I might still be entitled to
compensation or relief in the future. I have properly reported any and all job-related wrongs or injuries for which I might still be
entitled to compensation or relief, such as an injury for which I might receive a workers’ compensation award in the future. I have
properly reported all hours that I have worked and I have been paid all wages, overtime, commissions, compensation, benefits, and
other amounts that the Company or any Released Party should have paid me in the past.



(i) This Agreement is not an admission of wrongdoing by the Company or any other Released Party.
(iii) I am intentionally releasing claims that I do not know I might have and that, with hindsight, I might regret having released.

(iv) If the Company or I successfully assert that any provision in this Release is void, the rest of the Agreement shall remain valid
and enforceable.

(j) False Claims Representations and Promises: I have disclosed to the Company any information I have concerning any conduct
involving the Company or any Affiliate that I have any reason to believe may be unlawful or that involves any false claims to the United States. I
promise to cooperate fully in any investigation the Company or any Affiliate undertakes into matters occurring during my employment with the
Company or any Affiliate. I understand that nothing in this Agreement prevents me from cooperating with any U.S. government investigation. In
addition, to the fullest extent permitted by law, I hereby irrevocably assign to the U.S. government any right I might have to any proceeds or
awards in connection with any false claims proceedings against the Company or any Affiliate.

(k) Cooperation Required: I agree that when requested by the Company, I will promptly and fully respond to all inquiries from the
Company or any Affiliate and its representatives relating to any lawsuit in which I am identified as having factual information needed by the
Company. To the extent I incur reasonable out-of-pocket expenses (such as postage costs or telephone charges) in assisting the Company or any
Affiliate at its request, the Company will mail me a reimbursement check for those expenses within 15 days after it receives my request for
payment, along with satisfactory written substantiation of the claimed expenses.

(1) Disclosure: Nothing herein shall prevent the Company or me from disclosing the terms of this Agreement if required to do so
under applicable law or by a court of competent jurisdiction.

Section 7 -- Consequences of Violating Promises

I agree that the Company would be irreparably harmed by any actual or threatened violation of Section 6 that involves disclosure or
use of confidential information, proprietary information, trade secrets or the violation of any obligations to the Company or its Affiliates in
respect of non-competition or non-solicitation, and that the Company will be entitled to an injunction prohibiting me from committing any such
violation. In addition, I agree that, in the event of any actual or threatened violation of Section 6 or any confidentiality, non-solicitation or non-
competition agreement with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, then the Company shall (a) have no obligation to pay any amounts set forth
in Appendix A and (b) will be entitled to recover any amounts set forth in Appendix A previously paid to me.



Section 8 -- Miscellaneous

(a) Entire Agreement: In addition to any Company or Company Affiliate agreement, plan or policy relating to non-solicitation, non-
competition, the confidentiality of proprietary information, inventions, or similar matters referenced in Section 6 above, this Agreement is the
entire agreement between me and the Company relating to my termination of employment or the subject matter of this Agreement. This
Agreement may not be modified or canceled in any manner, nor may any provision of it or any legal remedy with respect to it be waived, except
by a writing signed by both me and an authorized Company official. I acknowledge that the Company has made no representations or promises to
me (such as that my former position will remain vacant), other than those in or referred to by this Agreement. If any provision in this Agreement
is found to be unenforceable, all other provisions will remain fully enforceable.

(b) Successors: This Agreement binds my heirs, administrators, representatives, executors, successors, and assigns, and will inure to
the benefit of all Released Parties and their respective heirs, administrators, representatives, executors, successors, and assigns.

(c) Interpretation: This Agreement shall be construed as a whole according to its fair meaning. It shall not be construed strictly for
or against me or any Released Party. Unless the context indicates otherwise, the term “or” shall be deemed to include the term “and” and the
singular or plural number shall be deemed to include the other. Captions are intended solely for convenience of reference and shall not be used in
the interpretation of this Agreement.

Section 9 -- Arbitration of Disputes

The Company and I agree to resolve any disputes we may have with each other through final, binding and confidential arbitration
consistent with applicable law. For example, I am agreeing to arbitrate any dispute about the validity of this Agreement or any discrimination
claim. I also agree to resolve through final, binding and confidential arbitration any disputes I have with any other Released Party who elects to
arbitrate those disputes under this subsection. Arbitration shall be conducted by the American Arbitration Association in accordance with its
employment dispute resolution rules which can be found at www.adr.org/employment, and consistent with state law. A neutral arbitrator will
preside over the arbitration and issue a written decision subject to limited judicial review. The decision shall remain confidential between the
parties and shall not be published by the arbitrator or the AAA. All remedies available under law will be available in the Arbitration. The
Arbitration proceedings will allow for adequate discovery. Commencement of the Arbitration will be at a minimal cost to me. This agreement to
arbitrate does not apply to government agency proceedings. By agreeing to this Agreement, I understand that I am waiving my right to a jury
trial.



YOU MAY NOT MAKE ANY CHANGES TO THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT.

BEFORE SIGNING THIS AGREEMENT, TAKE IT HOME, READ IT, AND
CAREFULLY CONSIDERIT. IF YOU CHOOSE, DISCUSS IT WITH YOUR
ATTORNEY (AT YOUR OWN EXPENSE).

BY SIGNING THIS AGREEMENT, YOU WILL BE WAIVING YOUR KNOWN AND
UNKNOWN CLAIMS.

Executed at Norwalk, Connecticut, this [®]th day of [e], 20[e], and signed under penalty of perjury under the laws of the state of Connecticut.

Signature

Print Name

Executed at Norwalk, Connecticut this [e]th day of [e], 20[e].

For FactSet Research Systems Inc.

Name:
Title:



Severance Payments and Benefits

Type of
Payment/Benefit

Timing of
Payment/Benefit

Form and Amount of Payment/Benefit




Second Release

This release (this “Second Release”) is made by [e] (“Employee”) as of the date set forth below in connection with the Separation Agreement and
General Release of Claims between Employee and FactSet Research Systems Inc. (the “Company”), made [®], 20[®] (the “Separation Agreement”),
and in association with the termination of Employee’s employment with the Company. Capitalized terms used and not defined herein shall have the
meaning ascribed to them in the Company’s Executive Severance Plan, as may be amended from time to time in accordance with its terms.

1. In consideration of payments to be made to Employee and other benefits to be received by Employee pursuant to the Separation
Agreement, Employee, being of lawful age, irrevocably and unconditionally releases (i.e., gives up), acquits and forever discharges all known and
unknown claims, promises, causes of action, charges, complaints, demands, liabilities, obligations, agreements, controversies, damages, suits,
entitlements, costs, losses, debts and expenses (including attorneys’ fees and legal expenses) or similar rights of any type that Employee currently may
have (“Claims”) with respect to the Company, all current and former parents, Subsidiaries, Affiliates, partnerships, or joint ventures, and, with respect
to each of them, their predecessors and successors; and, with respect to each such entity, all of its past, present, and future employees, officers, directors,
stockholders, owners, representatives, assigns, attorneys, agents, insurers, employee benefit programs (and the trustees, administrators, fiduciaries, and
insurers of such programs), and any other persons acting by, through, under or in concert with any of the persons or entities listed in this subsection, and
their successors (collectively, the “Released Parties”). Employee understands that Employee is not releasing future rights or claims, meaning rights or
claims that arise after the date that Employee executes and delivers this Second Release. Employee understands that the Claims Employee is releasing
might arise under many different federal, state, local or non-U.S. laws (including statutes, regulations, other administrative guidance, and common law
doctrines). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Employee acknowledges that Employee knowingly and voluntarily waives and releases any
and all Claims under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (the “ADEA”) and Executive Order 11,141, which prohibit age discrimination in
employment, as well as all Claims under the following:

(i) Anti-discrimination statutes, such as Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Sections 1981 and 1983 of the Civil Rights Act of 1866,
and Executive Order 11,246, which prohibit discrimination based on race, color, national origin, religion, or sex; the Equal Pay Act, which
prohibits paying men and women unequal pay for equal work; the Americans With Disabilities Act (“ADA”) and Sections 503 and 504 of
the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, which prohibit discrimination based on disability; the Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act of 2008
(“GINA”), which prohibits discrimination based on genetic information; and any other federal, state, local or non-U.S. laws prohibiting
discrimination in employment based on a protected category, such as actual or perceived race, religion, color, national origin, ancestry,
physical or mental disability, medical condition, genetic information, marital status, sex, sexual orientation, or association with a person
who has, or is perceived to have, any of those characteristics;




(ii) Federal employment statutes, such as the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act (“WARN_Act”), which requires that
advance notice be given of certain work force reductions; the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”), which,
among other things, protects employee benefits; and any other federal laws relating to employment, such as veterans’ reemployment rights
laws; and

(iii) Other laws, such as any federal, state, local or non-U.S. laws mandating leaves of absence, restricting an employer’s right to terminate
employees, or otherwise regulating employment; any federal, state, local or non-U.S. law enforcing express or implied employment
contracts or requiring an employer to deal with employees fairly or in good faith; any other federal, state, local or non- U.S. laws providing
recourse for alleged wrongful discharge, tort, physical or personal injury, emotional distress, fraud, negligent misrepresentation,
defamation, and similar or related claims; any other law relating to salary, commission, compensation, benefits, and other matters; and
family and medical leave laws.

Examples of released Claims include, but are not limited to the following (except to the extent explicitly preserved by Section 3 or 4(b) of the Separation
Agreement): (i) Claims that in any way relate to or arose during Employee’s employment with the Company, or the termination of that employment,
such as Claims for compensation, bonuses, commissions, lost wages, or unused accrued vacation or sick pay; (ii) Claims that in any way relate to the
design or administration of any employee benefit program; (iii) Claims that Employee has irrevocable or vested rights to severance or similar benefits or
to post-employment health or group insurance benefits; (iv) any Claims to attorneys’ fees or other indemnities (such as under the Civil Rights Attorneys’
Fees Act), with respect to Claims Employee is releasing; or (v) Claims under the Connecticut Human Rights and Opportunities Law, the Connecticut
Family and Medical Leave Law, the Connecticut Age Discrimination and Employee Insurance Benefits Law, and the Connecticut Smokers’ Rights Law.

2. Employee acknowledges that Employee has read and understands Section 1542 of the California Civil Code that reads as follows:
A general release does not extend to claims that the creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the
time of executing the release and that, if known by him or her, would have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor or

released party.

Employee hereby expressly waives and relinquishes all rights and benefits under that section and any law of any jurisdiction of similar effect with
respect to the release of any claims herein.

3. Employee hereby acknowledges and agrees that the Covenant not to Sue set forth in Section 4(d) of the Separation Agreement applies to all
Claims released pursuant to this Second Release.



4. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, nothing in this Second Release shall constitute a release of any rights of Employee that are preserved
pursuant to Section 3 or 4(b) of the Separation Agreement, and nothing herein shall prohibit or restrict Employee from taking any actions permitted by
Section 6(e) of the Separation Agreement. In addition, nothing in this Second Release shall prohibit or restrict Employee from challenging the knowing
and voluntary nature of Employee’s release of claims under the ADEA pursuant to the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act.

5. Employee acknowledges that, before signing this Second Release, Employee was given at least 21 days in which to consider this Second
Release. Employee waives any right Employee might have to additional time within which to consider this Second Release. Employee further
acknowledges that: (1) Employee took advantage of the time Employee was given to consider this Second Release before signing it; (2) Employee
carefully read this Second Release; (3) Employee fully understands it; (4) Employee is entering into it voluntarily; (5) Employee is receiving valuable
consideration in exchange for Employee’s execution of this Second Release that Employee would not otherwise be entitled to receive; (6) the Company,
by this writing, encouraged Employee to discuss this Second Release with Employee’s attorney (at Employee’s own expense) before signing it, and that
Employee did so to the extent Employee deemed appropriate; and (7) any changes made to this Second Release, whether material or immaterial, will not
restart the 21 day consideration period. Employee understands that Employee is entitled to revoke this Second Release, in writing, within 7 days once
Employee signs it. Such revocation must be delivered to the Company as provided herein within the 7 day period, in which case Employee will receive
no benefits pursuant to Appendix A of the Separation Agreement. If Employee does not revoke this Second Release, it will become enforceable on the
eighth day after Employee signs it. The Company need not sign this Second Release for it to become effective and irrevocable.

(remainder of page left intentionally blank)



YOU MAY NOT MAKE ANY CHANGES TO THE TERMS OF THIS SECOND RELEASE.

BEFORE SIGNING THIS SECOND RELEASE, TAKE IT HOME, READ IT, AND CAREFULLY CONSIDER IT. IF YOU CHOOSE,
DISCUSS IT WITH YOUR ATTORNEY (AT YOUR OWN EXPENSE). YOU HAVE 21 DAYS TO CONSIDER THIS AGREEMENT. IF YOU
DO NOT SIGN AND RETURN THIS AGREEMENT WITHIN THIS 21-DAY PERIOD, IT AUTOMATICALLY EXPIRES.

ONCE YOU SIGN THIS AGREEMENT, YOU WILL HAVE AN ADDITIONAL 7 DAYS TO REVOKE IT. IF YOU CHOOSE TO REVOKE
THIS AGREEMENT, YOU MUST DELIVER A WRITTEN NOTICE OF REVOCATION TO:

CHIEF LEGAL OFFICER
FACTSET RESEARCH SYSTEMS INC.
45 GLOVER AVENUE, NORWALK, CT 06850

BY SIGNING THIS AGREEMENT, YOU WILL BE WAIVING YOUR KNOWN AND UNKNOWN CLAIMS.

Executed at Norwalk, Connecticut, this [e]th day of [e], 20[e], and signed under penalty of perjury under the laws of the state of Connecticut.

Signature

Print Name



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, F. Philip Snow, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of FactSet Research Systems Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)  disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the
audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect
the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have any significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: July 3, 2024

/s/ E. PHILIP SNOW
F. Philip Snow
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Linda S. Huber, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of FactSet Research Systems Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared,

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the
audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect
the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have any significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: July 3, 2024

/s/ LINDA S. HUBER

Linda S. Huber

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of FactSet Research Systems Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 31, 2024, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, F. Philip Snow, do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ F. PHILIP SNOW

F. Philip Snow

Chief Executive Officer
July 3, 2024




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of FactSet Research Systems Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 31, 2024, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Linda S. Huber, do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ LINDA S. HUBER

Linda S. Huber

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

July 3, 2024




